INDENTURE OF TRUST

by and between the

COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA, CALIFORNIA,

and

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as the initial Bondowner Representative

dated as of September 1, 2011

relating to:

S______County of Contra Costa Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Pinole Grove Senior Housing), Series 2011A

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

| Section 1.01. | Definitions | .2 |
|---------------|------------------------|----|
| Section 1.02. | Rules of Construction. | .9 |

ARTICLE II

THE BONDS

| Section 2.01. | Authorization | 9 |
|---------------|--|----|
| Section 2.02. | Terms of Bonds | 9 |
| Section 2.03. | Payment of Bonds. | 10 |
| Section 2.04. | Execution of Bonds. | |
| Section 2.05. | Transfer of Bonds; Condition to Conversion Date. | 11 |
| Section 2.06. | Bond Register | 12 |
| Section 2.07. | Replacement of Bonds | 12 |
| | | |

ARTICLE III

ISSUANCE OF BONDS; APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS

| Section 3.01. | Authentication and Delivery of the Bonds | 12 |
|---------------|--|----|
| Section 3.02. | Application of Proceeds of Bonds | 13 |
| | Program Fund. | |

ARTICLE IV

REDEMPTION OF BONDS

| Section 4.01. | Circumstances of Redemption. | 14 |
|---------------|------------------------------|----|
| Section 4.02. | No Notice of Redemption | 14 |
| | Effect of Redemption. | |
| Section 4.03. | Effect of Redemption. | 1 |

ARTICLE V

REVENUES

| Section 5.01. | Power to Issue Bonds; Pledge of Revenues | .15 |
|---------------|--|-----|
| Section 5.02. | Bond Fund | .16 |
| Section 5.03. | Investment of Moneys | .17 |
| Section 5.04. | Enforcement of Obligations | .18 |

ARTICLE VI

COVENANTS OF THE ISSUER

| Section 6.01. | Payment of Principal and Interest. | |
|---------------|--|----|
| Section 6.02. | Paying Agents | |
| Section 6.03. | Preservation of Revenues; Amendment of Documents | |
| Section 6.04. | Compliance with Indenture | |
| Section 6.05. | Further Assurances | 19 |
| Section 6.06. | No Arbitrage | 19 |
| Section 6.07. | Limitation of Expenditure of Proceeds | 19 |
| Section 6.08. | Rebate of Excess Investment Earnings to United States | 19 |
| Section 6.09. | Limitation on Issuance Costs | 19 |
| Section 6.10. | Federal Guarantee Prohibition | |
| Section 6.11. | Prohibited Facilities. | 20 |
| Section 6.12. | Use Covenant | 20 |
| Section 6.13. | Immunities and Limitations of Responsibility of Issuer | 20 |
| Section 6.14. | Additional Representations by the Issuer | |
| | | |

ARTICLE VII

DEFAULT

| Section 7.01. | Events of Default; Acceleration; Waiver of Default | 21 |
|---------------|--|----|
| Section 7.02. | Institution of Legal Proceedings by Bondowner Representative | 23 |
| Section 7.03. | Application of Moneys Collected by Bondowner Representative | |
| Section 7.04. | Effect of Delay or Omission to Pursue Remedy. | |
| Section 7.05. | Remedies Cumulative. | |
| Section 7.06. | Covenant to Pay Bonds in Event of Default | 24 |
| Section 7.07. | Bondowner Representative Appointed Agent for Bondholders | |
| Section 7.08. | Power of Bondowner Representative to Control Proceedings | |
| Section 7.09. | Limitation on Bondholders' Right to Sue. | |
| Section 7.10. | Limitation of Liability to Revenues. | |
| | 5 | |

ARTICLE VIII

THE BONDOWNER REPRESENTATIVE AND AGENTS

| Section 8.01. | Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Bondowner Representative. | 25 |
|---------------|---|----|
| Section 8.02. | Right of Bondowner Representative to Rely Upon Documents, Etc. | 27 |
| Section 8.03. | Bondowner Representative Not Responsible for Recitals | |
| Section 8.04. | Intervention by Bondowner Representative. | |
| Section 8.05. | Moneys Received by Bondowner Representative. | 28 |
| Section 8.06. | Compensation and Indemnification of Bondowner Representative and Agents | 29 |
| Section 8.07. | Qualifications of Bondowner Representative. | |
| Section 8.08. | Merger or Consolidation of Bondowner Representative. | 30 |
| Section 8.09. | Dealing in Bonds. | 30 |
| Section 8.10. | Indemnification of Issuer by Bondowner Representative | |
| Section 8.11. | Bondowner Representative Not Agent of Issuer | |
| | · · | |

ARTICLE IX

MODIFICATION OF INDENTURE

| Section 9.01. | Modification of Indenture | 31 |
|---------------|--|----|
| Section 9.02. | Effect of Supplemental Indenture. | 31 |
| | Opinion of Counsel as to Supplemental Indenture | |
| | Notation of Modification on Bonds; Preparation of New Bonds. | |
| beenen > to n | recurrent of the antenation of 2 of act, 1 of an and 1 of 1 of a state of the state | |

ARTICLE X

DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE

| Section 10.01. | Discharge of Indenture | |
|----------------|--|--|
| | Payment of Bonds after Discharge of Indenture. | |
| 20001110102 | | |

ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS

| Section 11.01. | Successors of Issuer | |
|----------------|--|--|
| Section 11.02. | Limitation of Rights to Parties and Bondholders. | |
| Section 11.03. | Waiver of Notice | |
| Section 11.04. | Destruction of Bonds. | |
| Section 11.05. | Separability of Invalid Provisions Notices. | |
| Section 11.06. | | |
| Section 11.07. | Authorized Representatives. | |
| Section 11.08. | Evidence of Rights of Bondholders. | |
| Section 11.09. | Waiver of Personal Liability. | |
| Section 11.10. | Holidays | |
| Section 11.11. | Execution in Several Counterparts. | |
| Section 11.12. | Governing Law. | |
| Section 11.13. | Successors | |
| FXHIBIT A | FORM OF BOND | |
| | | |

| EAHIDII A | FURIVI OF DUIND |
|-----------|---------------------------|
| EXHIBIT B | FORM OF INVESTOR'S LETTER |

INDENTURE OF TRUST

This Indenture of Trust, dated as of September 1, 2011 (this "Indenture"), is by and between the County of Contra Costa, California, a political subdivision and body corporate and politic of the State of California (the "Issuer"), and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, a national banking association organized under the laws of the United States of America, and being qualified to accept and administer the obligations and duties of the Bondowner Representative hereunder, as the initial bondowner representative (the "Bondowner Representative").

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 7 of Part 5 of Division 31 (commencing with Section 52075) of the California Health and Safety Code (the "Housing Act"), the Issuer proposes to issue its County of Contra Costa Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Pinole Grove Senior Housing), Series 2011A (the "Bonds"); and

WHEREAS, the proceeds of the Bonds will be used to fund a loan to John Street Housing Associates, L.P., a California limited partnership (the "Borrower") pursuant to a Loan Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2011, among the Issuer, the Bondowner Representative and the Borrower (the "Loan Agreement"), to provide financing for the acquisition and rehabilitation of a 70 unit multifamily senior rental housing project known as Pinole Grove Senior Housing (the "Development"), located at 800 John Street in the City of Pinole, California; and

WHEREAS, in order to provide for the authentication and delivery of the Bonds, to establish and declare the terms and conditions upon which the Bonds are to be issued and secured and to secure the payment of the principal thereof and of the interest and premium, if any, thereon, the Issuer has authorized the execution and delivery of this Indenture; and

WHEREAS, all conditions, things and acts required by the Housing Act, and by all other laws of the State of California, to exist, have happened and have been performed precedent to and in connection with the issuance of the Bonds exist, have happened, and have been performed in due time, form and manner as required by law, and the Issuer is now duly authorized and empowered, pursuant to each and every requirement of law, to issue the Bonds for the purpose, in the manner and upon the terms herein provided; and

WHEREAS, all acts and proceedings required by law necessary to make the Bonds, when executed by the Issuer, authenticated and delivered by the Bondowner Representative and duly issued, the valid, binding and legal limited obligations of the Issuer, and to constitute this Indenture a valid and binding agreement for the uses and purposes herein set forth, in accordance with its terms, have been done and taken, and the execution and delivery of this Indenture have been in all respects duly authorized.

AGREEMENT:

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH, that in order to secure the payment of the principal of, and the interest and premium, if any, on, all Bonds at any time issued and outstanding under this Indenture, according to their tenor, and to secure the performance and observance of all the covenants and conditions therein and herein set forth, and to declare the terms and conditions upon and subject to which the Bonds are to be issued and received, and for and in consideration of the premises and of the mutual covenants herein contained and of the purchase and acceptance of the Bonds by the owners thereof, and for other valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Issuer covenants and agrees with the Bondowner Representative, for the equal and proportionate benefit of the respective registered owners from time to time of the Bonds, as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 1.01. Definitions. Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms defined in this Section 1.01 shall, for all purposes of this Indenture and of the Loan Agreement and of any indenture supplemental hereto or agreement supplemental thereto, have the meanings herein specified, as follows:

The term **"Administrator"** shall mean the Issuer or any administrator or program monitor appointed by the Issuer to administer the Regulatory Agreement, and any successor administrator appointed by the Issuer.

The term **"Affiliate"** shall mean, as to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly, is in Control of, is Controlled by or is under common Control with such Person.

The term **"Agreement"** or **"Loan Agreement"** shall mean the Loan Agreement, dated as of ______ 1, 2011, among the Issuer, the Bondowner Representative and the Borrower, pursuant to which the Issuer agrees to loan the proceeds of the Bonds to the Borrower, as originally executed or as it may from time to time be supplemented or amended in accordance with its terms.

The term **"Approved Institutional Buyer"** means (a) a "qualified institutional buyer" as defined in Rule 144A promulgated under the United Stated Securities Act of 1933, as in effect on the date hereof (the "Securities Act"); (b) an "accredited investor" as defined in Sections 501(a)(1) through (3) of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act; (c) an entity that is directly or indirectly wholly owned or controlled by the purchaser/bondholder representative (being a financial institution described in (a) above); (d) an entity all of the investors in which are described in (a), (b) or (c) above; or (e) a custodian or trustee for a party described in (a), (b) or (c) above.

The term **"Authorized Amount"** shall mean _____ Million Dollars (\$_____), the authorized maximum principal amount of the Bonds.

The term **"Authorized Borrower Representative"** shall mean any person who at the time and from time to time may be designated as such, by written certificate furnished to the Issuer and the Bondowner Representative containing the specimen signature of such person and signed on behalf of the Borrower by the ______ of the Manager (or other designated officer) of the General Partner of the Borrower, which certificate may designate an alternate or alternates.

The term **"Authorized Denomination"** shall mean \$250,000 and any integral multiple of \$1.00 in excess thereof; provided, that (a) one Bond may be in a denomination less than a minimum \$250,000 in connection with a partial redemption of Bonds pursuant to Section 4.01(a); and (b) in any event, one Bond may be in an amount equal to the then outstanding principal amount of the Bonds.

The term **"Authorized Issuer Representative"** shall mean the Chair or Vice Chair of the Board of Supervisors of the Issuer, or the County Administrator, or the Director of Conservation and Development of the Issuer, or the Deputy Director – Redevelopment of the Issuer, or the Affordable Housing Program Manager of the Issuer, or any other person designated to act in such capacity by a Certificate of the Issuer containing the specimen signature of any of such persons which certificate may designate an alternate or alternates.

The term **"Authorized Participant"** means (a) a bank that purchases a participation interest in the Bonds and delivers to the Issuer an investor's letter in the form of Exhibit B hereto; or (b) with respect to CCRC as holder of the Bonds, a member bank of CCRC that is an Approved Institutional Buyer.

The term **"Bond Counsel"** shall mean (a) Quint & Thimmig LLP, or (b) any attorney at law or other firm of attorneys selected by the Issuer of nationally recognized standing in matters pertaining to the federal tax status of interest on bonds issued by states and political subdivisions, and duly admitted to practice law before the highest court of any state of the United States of America, but shall not include counsel for the Borrower.

The term **"Bond Fund"** shall mean the fund established pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof.

The term **"Bondowner Representative"** shall mean (a) initially, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, a national banking association organized under the laws of the United States of America, and, pursuant to Section 8.07, on and after the Conversion Date, CCRC; (b) any successor to any then Bondowner Representative under Section 8.08 hereof; or (c) subject to the provisions of Section 8.07, any other entity that is the owner of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding or a person selected by the owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding.

The term **"Bonds"** shall mean the County of Contra Costa Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Pinole Grove Senior Housing), Series 2011A, issued and outstanding hereunder.

The term **"Borrower"** shall mean John Street Housing Associates, L.P., a California limited partnership, and its successors and assigns under the provisions of the Loan Agreement.

The term **"Business Day"** shall have the meaning given to such term in the Loan Agreement.

The term **"CCRC"** means the California Community Reinvestment Corporation, and its successors.

The term **"CDLAC"** means the California Debt Limit Allocation Committee.

The term **"CDLAC Resolution"** means Resolution No. 11-87 adopted by CDLAC on July 20, 2011, with respect to the Project.

The term **"Certificate of the Issuer"** shall mean a certificate of the Issuer signed by an Authorized Issuer Representative.

The term **"Certified Resolution"** shall mean a copy of a resolution of the Issuer certified by the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors of the Issuer, or any deputy thereof, to have been duly adopted by the Issuer and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification.

The term **"Closing Date"** shall mean September __, 2011, the date of initial delivery of the Bonds and funding of the Initial Disbursement.

The term **"Code"** means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as in effect on the date of issuance of the Bonds or (except as otherwise referenced herein) as it may be amended to apply to obligations issued on the date of issuance of the Bonds, together with applicable proposed, temporary and final regulations promulgated, and applicable official public guidance published, under the Code.

The term **"Control"** shall mean, with respect to any Person, either (i) ownership directly or through other entities of more than 50% of all beneficial equity interest in such Person, or (ii) the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

The term **"Conversion Date"** means the date on which the registered owner of the Outstanding Bonds becomes CCRC by reason of its purchase of all of the Bonds that remain Outstanding on such date.

The term **"Debt Service"** means the scheduled amount of interest and amortization of principal payable on the Bonds during the period of computation, excluding amounts scheduled during such period which relate to principal which has been retired before the beginning of such period.

The term **"Deed of Trust"** shall mean the Construction and Permanent Deed of Trust With Absolute Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, executed by the Borrower in favor of the Issuer, and assigned by the Issuer to the Bondowner Representative, for the purpose of securing the obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement and the Note, as such deed of trust may be originally executed or as it may be from time to time supplemented and amended.

The term "**Default Rate**" means the interest rate then in effect on the Bonds plus five percent (5%).

The term **"Development"** means the 70 units of senior rental housing to be acquired and rehabilitated by the Borrower with the proceeds of the Loan, located at 800 John Street in the City of Pinole, California, including structures, buildings, fixtures or equipment, as it may at any time exist, and any structures, buildings, fixtures or equipment acquired in substitution for, as a renewal or replacement of, or a modification or improvement to, all or any part of such facilities, and a fee interest in the land on which such housing is situated.

The term **"Development Costs"** has the meaning given to the term "Project Costs" in the Loan Agreement.

The term **"Event of Default"** as used herein other than with respect to defaults under the Loan Agreement shall have the meaning specified in Section 7.01 hereof, and as used with respect to the Loan Agreement shall have the meaning given to the term "Default" in Section 13.1 thereof.

The term "Fair Market Value" means the price at which a willing buyer would purchase the investment from a willing seller in a bona fide, arm's length transaction (determined as of the date the contract to purchase or sell the investment becomes binding) if the investment is traded on an established securities market (within the meaning of section 1273 of the Code) and, otherwise, the term "Fair Market Value" means the acquisition price in a bona fide arm's length transaction (as referenced above) if (a) the investment is a certificate of deposit that is acquired in accordance with applicable regulations under the Code, (b) the investment is an agreement with specifically negotiated withdrawal or reinvestment provisions and a specifically negotiated interest rate (for example, a guaranteed investment contract, a forward supply contract or other investment agreement) that is acquired in accordance with applicable regulations under the Code, (c) the investment is a United States Treasury Obligation-State Local Government Series that is acquired in accordance with applicable regulations of the United States Bureau of Public Debt, or (d) the investment is the Local Agency Investment Fund of the State of California but only if at all times during which the investment is held its yield is reasonably expected to be equal to or greater than the yield on a reasonably comparable direct obligation of the United States.

The term **"Holder**," **"holder"** or **"Bondholder"** or **"Bondowner"** shall mean the person in whose name any Bond is registered.

The term **"Housing Act"** shall mean Chapter 7 of Part 5 of Division 31 (commencing with Section 52075) of the Health and Safety Code of the State of California.

The term **"Indenture"** shall mean this Indenture of Trust, as originally executed or as it may from time to time be supplemented, modified or amended by any supplemental indenture entered into pursuant to the provisions hereof.

The term **"Initial Disbursement"** means the initial advance of the proceeds of the Bonds on the Closing Date in an amount equal to \$_____.

The term **"Interest Payment Date"** shall mean the first Business Day of each month, commencing October 1, 2011.

The term **"Investment Securities"** shall mean any of the following (including any funds comprised of the following, which may be funds maintained or managed by the Bondowner Representative and its affiliates), but only to the extent that the same are acquired at Fair Market Value:

(a) United States Treasury notes, bonds, bills, or those for which the full faith and credit of the United States, its agencies, its instrumentalities, or organizations created by an act of Congress, are pledged for the payment of principal and interest (including State and Local Government Series);

(b) shares of an investment company (1) registered under the Federal Investment Company Act of 1940, whose shares are registered under the Federal Securities Act of 1933, (2) whose only investments are in (i) securities described in the preceding clause (a), (ii) general obligation tax-exempt securities rated A or better by the Rating Agency, or (iii) repurchase agreements or reverse repurchase agreements fully collateralized by those securities if the repurchase agreements or reverse repurchase agreements are entered into only with those primary reporting dealers to report to the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and with the 100 largest United States commercial banks, and (3) which are rated Am or Am-g or better by the Rating Agency;

(c) any security which is a general obligation of any state or any local government with taxing powers which is rated A or better by the Rating Agency;

(d) commercial paper issued by United States corporations or their Canadian subsidiaries that is rated A-1 by the Rating Agency and matures in 270 days or less; or

(e) any other investment approved in writing by the Bondowner Representative.

The term **"Investor Limited Partner"** means Wachovia Affordable Housing Community Development Corporation, and its successors and assigns.

The term **"Issuance Costs"** means all costs and expenses of issuance of the Bonds, including, but not limited to: (a) underwriters' discount and fees; (b) counsel fees, including Bond Counsel and Borrower's counsel, as well as any other specialized counsel fees incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds or the Loan; (c) the Issuer's fees and expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, including fees of any counsel or financial advisor to the Issuer, and the Issuer administrative fee for processing the request of the Borrower to issue the Bonds; (d) Bondowner Representative's fees and Bondowner Representative's counsel fees and expenses; (e) paying agent's and certifying and authenticating agent's fees related to issuance of the Bonds; (f) accountant's fees related to issuance of the Bonds; (g) publication costs associated with the financing proceedings; and (h) costs of engineering and feasibility studies necessary to the issuance of the Bonds.

The term **"Issuer"** shall mean the County of Contra Costa, California, and its successors and assigns as provided in Section 11.01.

The term **"Loan"** shall mean the loan made by the Issuer to the Borrower pursuant to the Loan Agreement for the purpose of financing the acquisition and rehabilitation by the Borrower of the Development.

The term **"Loan Agreement"** shall mean the Agreement, as defined herein.

The term **"Loan Documents"** has the meaning given such term in the Loan Agreement.

The term **"Note"** means the promissory note evidencing the Loan, in the form required by the Loan Agreement.

The term **"Opinion of Counsel"** shall mean a written opinion of counsel, who may be counsel for the Issuer, Bond Counsel or counsel for the Bondowner Representative.

The term **"outstanding"**, when used as of any particular time with reference to Bonds, shall, subject to the provisions of Section 11.08(e), mean all Bonds theretofore authenticated and delivered by the Bondowner Representative under this Indenture except:

(a) Bonds theretofore canceled by the Bondowner Representative or surrendered to the Bondowner Representative for cancellation;

(b) Bonds for the payment or redemption of which moneys or securities in the necessary amount (as provided in Section 10.01) shall have theretofore been deposited with the Bondowner Representative (whether upon or prior to the maturity or the redemption date of such Bonds); and

(c) Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been authenticated and delivered by the Bondowner Representative pursuant to the terms of Section 2.05.

The term **"Person"** or **"person"** shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, a limited liability company, a limited liability partnership, a limited partnership, a trust, an unincorporated organization or a government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

The term **"Premium"** means a premium payable on the Bonds in an amount equal to any premium payable on the Note.

The term **"Principal Office"** shall mean the office of the Bondowner Representative located at the address set forth in Section 11.06 hereof, or at such other place as the Bondowner Representative shall designate by notice given under said Section 11.06.

The term **"Program Fund"** shall mean the fund established pursuant to Section 3.03 hereof.

The term "Qualified Development Costs" means Development Costs that meet each of the following requirements: (i) the costs are properly chargeable to capital account (or would be so chargeable with a proper election by the Borrower or but for a proper election by the Borrower to deduct such costs) in accordance with general Federal income tax principles and in accordance with United States Treasury Regulations \$1.103-\$(a)(1), provided, however, that only such portion of interest accrued during acquisition and rehabilitation of the Development shall be eligible to be a Qualified Development Cost as is so capitalizable and as bears the same ratio to all such interest as the Qualified Development Costs bear to all Development Costs; and provided further that interest accruing after the date of completion of the rehabilitation of the Development shall not be a Qualified Development Cost; and provided still further that if any portion of the Development is being rehabilitated by an Affiliate (whether as a general contractor or a subcontractor), Qualified Development Costs shall include only (A) the actual out-of-pocket costs incurred by such Affiliate in rehabilitating the Development (or any portion thereof), (B) any reasonable fees for supervisory services actually rendered by the Affiliate, and (C) any overhead expenses incurred by the Affiliate which are directly attributable to the work performed on the Development, and shall not include, for example, intercompany profits resulting from members of an affiliated group (within the meaning of Section 1504 of the Code) participating in the rehabilitation of the Development or payments received by such Affiliate due to early completion of the Development (or any portion thereof); (ii) the costs are paid with respect to a qualified residential rental project or projects within the meaning of Section 142(d) of the Code, (iii) the costs are paid after the date which is 60 days prior to March 15, 2011, and (iv) if the Development Costs were previously paid and are to be reimbursed with proceeds of the Bonds, such costs were (A) costs of issuance of the Bonds, (B) preliminary capital expenditures (within the meaning of United States Treasury Regulations \$1.139-2(f)(2) with respect to the Development (such as architectural, engineering and soil testing services) incurred before commencement of the acquisition or rehabilitation of the Development that do not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the issue price of the Bonds (as defined in United States Treasury Regulations §1.148-1), or (C) were capital expenditures with respect to the Development that are reimbursed no later than eighteen (18) months after the later of the date the expenditure was paid or the date the Development is placed in service (but no later than three (3) years after the expenditure is paid). Notwithstanding the foregoing, "Qualified Development Costs" shall not include costs related to the acquisition or rehabilitation of any office or commercial space, or any parking facilities, not functionally related to the dwelling units in the Development.

The term **"Rating Agency"** shall mean Standard & Poor's Ratings Group, a division of McGraw-Hill, or its successors and assigns or, if such entity shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, any other nationally recognized rating agency designated by the Issuer.

The term **"Regulations"** means the Income Tax Regulations promulgated or proposed by the Department of the Treasury pursuant to the Code from time to time or pursuant to any predecessor statute to the Code.

The term **"Regulatory Agreement"** shall mean the Regulatory Agreement and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants, dated as of September 1, 2011, by and between the Issuer and the Borrower, as in effect on the Closing Date and as thereafter amended in accordance with its terms.

The term **"Reserved Rights"** shall mean the Issuer's rights to enforce and receive payments of money directly and for its own purposes under Sections 2.2, 2.3(a), 2.3(d), 3.3(g)(i), 3.3(g)(ii), 3.3(h), 3.4, 3.16, 4.10, 8.2, 8.3, 9.5, 11.38, 11.39, 11.40 and 11.44 of the Loan Agreement, the Issuer's rights to inspect and audit the books, records and premises of the Borrower and of the Development, its right to collect attorneys' fees and related expenses, its right to enforce the Borrower's covenants to comply with applicable federal tax law and California law (including the Housing Act and the rules and regulations of the Issuer), its right to receive notices and to grant or withhold consents or waivers under the Loan Agreement, the Regulatory Agreement and the Regulatory Agreement, and its right to amend this Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Regulatory Agreement in accordance with the provisions hereof and thereof.

The term **"Responsible Officer"** of the Bondowner Representative shall mean any officer of the Bondowner Representative assigned to administer its duties hereunder.

The term **"Revenues"** shall mean all amounts pledged hereunder to the payment of principal of, Premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, consisting of any repayments of the Loan required or permitted to be made by the Borrower pursuant to Sections 3.3(a), (b), (c), (d) and (f), 3.5, and 3.8(a) and (b) of the Loan Agreement; but such term shall not include payments to the United States, the Issuer, the Administrator or the Bondowner Representative pursuant to Sections 2.3, 3.3(e), (g) and (h), 3.4, 3.6(c), 3.7(c), 3.11, 3.16, 9.5, 11.2, 11.38, 11.39, 11.44(c), 13.6, 15.1 or 15.10 of the Loan Agreement or Sections 6.08 or 8.06 hereof or Sections 4A(d), 9 or 20 of the Regulatory Agreement.

The term **"supplemental indenture"** or **"indenture supplemental hereto"** shall mean any indenture hereafter duly authorized and entered into between the Issuer and the Bondowner Representative in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture.

The term **"Tax Certificate"** means the Certificate as to Arbitrage of the Borrower and the Issuer dated the Closing Date.

The terms **"Written Consent"**, **"Written Demand"**, **"Written Direction"**, **"Written Election"**, **"Written Notice"**, **"Written Order"**, **"Written Request"** and **"Written Requisition"** of the Issuer or the Borrower shall mean, respectively, a written consent, demand, direction, election, notice, order, request or requisition signed on behalf of the Issuer by an Authorized Issuer Representative, or on behalf of the Borrower by an Authorized Borrower Representative.

Section 1.02. Rules of Construction. (a) The singular form of any word used herein, including the terms defined in Section 1.01, shall include the plural, and vice versa, unless the context otherwise requires. The use herein of a pronoun of any gender shall include correlative words of the other genders.

(b) All references herein to "Articles", "Sections" and other subdivisions hereof are to the corresponding Articles, Sections or subdivisions of this Indenture as originally executed; and the words "herein", "hereof", "hereunder" and other words of similar import refer to this Indenture as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or subdivision hereof.

(c) The headings or titles of the several Articles and Sections hereof, and any table of contents appended to copies hereof, shall be solely for convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction or effect of this Indenture.

ARTICLE II

THE BONDS

Section 2.01. Authorization. There are hereby authorized to be issued bonds of the Issuer designated as "County of Contra Costa Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Pinole Grove Senior Housing), Series 2011A" in the initial aggregate principal amount of up to the Authorized Amount. No Bonds may be issued hereunder except in accordance with this Article. The maximum aggregate principal amount of Bonds which may be issued and outstanding under this Indenture shall not exceed the Authorized Amount.

Section 2.02. Terms of Bonds. The Bonds shall be in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit A hereto with necessary or appropriate variations, omissions and insertions as permitted or required by this Indenture, including any supplemental indenture.

The Bonds shall be issuable only as fully registered Bonds, without coupons, in the form of a single Bond in the principal amount equal to the aggregate of the purchase price of the Bonds advanced from time to time by the owners of the Bonds (which principal amount shall be, on the Closing Date, equal to the amount of the Initial Disbursement, and with any subsequent advances subject to the provisions of Section 3.03(e)). In connection with any transfer of Bonds in accordance with the requirements of Section 2.05, the Bonds may be in Authorized Denominations. The Bonds shall be dated the Closing Date, shall mature on ______ 1, ____, and shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity as provided in Article IV.

The Bonds shall bear interest on the principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding, payable on each Interest Payment Date, at the same rate of interest in effect from time to time on the Note, computed in the same manner as interest is computed from time to time on the Note. The principal of the Bonds shall be payable in installments on the same dates and in the same amounts as is the principal payable on the Loan, as evidenced by the Note.

Each Bond shall bear interest from the date to which interest has been paid on the Bonds next preceding the date of its authentication, unless it is authenticated as of an Interest Payment Date for which interest has been paid, in which event it shall bear interest from such Interest Payment Date, or unless it is authenticated on or before the first Interest Payment Date, in which event it shall bear interest from the Closing Date. The payment or prepayment of principal of and interest or Premium, if any, on the Bonds shall be identical with and shall be made on the same terms and conditions as the principal of and interest or premium, if any, on the Note, as determined in accordance with the Loan Agreement. Any payment or prepayment made by the Borrower of principal and interest or premium, if any, on the Note shall be deemed to be like payments or prepayments of principal and interest or Premium, if any, on the Bonds.

Payments or prepayments actually made by the Borrower to the Bondowner Representative shall be deemed to have been constructively received by the Holder(s) as payments or prepayments on the Bonds on the date of receipt of such payments by the Bondowner Representative, and interest with respect to each principal payment or prepayment shall cease to accrue upon receipt of such payment by the Bondowner Representative. Payments or prepayments of principal, interest or Premium, if any, shall be remitted immediately by the Bondowner Representative to the Holder(s).

The Issuer hereby acknowledges that the Borrower is obligated to pay late fees and other charges (including without limitation prepayment penalties) under the Note (and as otherwise provided in the Loan Documents) to the Bondowner Representative, which amounts are paid for the benefit of the Bondowner Representative and shall be retained by the Bondowner Representative for its own account and shall not be construed in any event to be interest on the Bonds.

Section 2.03. Payment of Bonds. Payment of the principal of and interest on any Bond shall be made in lawful money of the United States to the person appearing on the Bond registration books of the Issuer (maintained by the Bondowner Representative) as the registered owner thereof on the applicable Interest Payment Date, such principal and interest to be paid by check mailed on the Interest Payment Date by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the registered owner at its address as it appears on such registered owner of Bonds, make payments of principal and interest on such Bonds by wire transfer to the account within the United States designated by such owner to the Bondowner Representative in writing, any such designation to remain in effect until withdrawn in writing.

Section 2.04. Execution of Bonds. The Bonds shall be signed in the name and on behalf of the Issuer with the manual or facsimile signature of the Chair of the Board of Supervisors of the Issuer and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the County Administrator and Clerk of the Board of Supervisors of the Issuer. The Bonds shall then be delivered to the Bondowner Representative for authentication by the Bondowner Representative. In case any officer who shall have signed any of the Bonds shall cease to be such officer before the Bonds so signed shall have been authenticated or delivered by the Bondowner Representative or issued by the Issuer, such Bonds may nevertheless be authenticated, delivered and issued and, upon such authentication, delivery and issuance, shall be as binding upon the Issuer as though the person who signed the same had continued to be such officer of the Issuer. Also, any Bond may be signed on behalf of the Issuer by such persons as on the actual date of the execution of such Bond shall be the proper officers of the Issuer although on the nominal date of such Bond any such person shall not have been such officer.

Only such of the Bonds as shall bear thereon a certificate of authentication in the form set forth in Exhibit A, manually executed by the Bondowner Representative, shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or entitled to the benefits of this Indenture and such certificate of the Bondowner Representative shall be conclusive evidence that the Bonds so authenticated have been duly authenticated and delivered hereunder and are entitled to the benefits of this Indenture. **Section 2.05. Transfer of Bonds; Condition to Conversion Date.** (a) Any Bond may, in accordance with the terms of this Indenture but in any event subject to the provisions of Section 2.05(b) hereof, be transferred upon the books of the Bondowner Representative, required to be kept pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.06, by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by his duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of such Bond for cancellation at the Principal Office of the Bondowner Representative, accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in a form acceptable to the Bondowner Representative, duly executed. Whenever any Bond shall be surrendered for transfer, the Issuer shall execute and the Bondowner Representative shall authenticate and deliver a new Bond.

(b) The following shall apply to all transfers of the Bonds after the initial delivery of the Bonds:

(i) the Bonds, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, shall be physical certificated instruments, and shall not be held in a book-entry only system unless approved in advance in writing by the Issuer in its sole discretion;

(ii) the Bonds shall only be transferred in whole, and only to (A) an entity that is an Approved Institutional Buyer, or (B) CCRC;

(iii) each transferee of the Bonds shall deliver to the Issuer an investor's letter in the form of Exhibit B hereto wherein the transferee agrees, among other matters, not to sell participating interests in the Bonds without the prior written consent of the Issuer, except as permitted by the next paragraph; and

(iv) the Bondowner Representative shall not authenticate or register a Bond unless the conditions of this Section 2.05(b) have been satisfied.

(c) Nothing contained in this Section 2.05(b) shall be deemed to limit or otherwise restrict the sale by any Holder of any participation interests in any Bond; provided that (i) such Holder is CCRC or any Authorized Participant who is selling interests to an Authorized Participant; or (ii) (A) such Holder shall remain the Holder of record of such Bond following the sale of any such participation interest; (B) the purchaser of the participation interest is an Approved Institutional Buyer (in which event such Holder shall remain the Holder of the applicable Bond for all purposes of this Indenture); (C) any such participation shall be in an Authorized Denomination; and (D) the purchaser of such participation interest shall provide an investor letter to the Issuer substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto.

(d) The Bondowner Representative shall require the payment by the Bondholder requesting any such transfer of any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such transfer, but any such transfer shall otherwise be made without charge to the Bondholder requesting the same. The cost of printing any Bonds and any services rendered or any expenses incurred by the Bondowner Representative in connection therewith shall be paid by the Borrower.

(e) The Bondowner Representative shall indemnify and defend the Issuer against any claim brought by any transferor or transferee of the Bonds in respect of the Bonds, this Indenture or any of the Loan Documents in the event that the Bondowner Representative permits a transfer of the Bonds in violation of the restrictions in Sections 2.05(b) and (c) above. (f) In no case shall a purchaser of a participation interest in any Bond be deemed to be a Holder of the Bonds, or have any rights of a Holder of the Bonds or of the Bondowner Representative hereunder.

Section 2.06. Bond Register. The Issuer hereby appoints the Bondowner Representative as registrar and authenticating agent for the Bonds. The Bondowner Representative will keep or cause to be kept at its Principal Office sufficient books for the registration and transfer of the Bonds, which shall at all reasonable times during regular business hours upon reasonable notice be open to inspection by the Issuer and the Borrower; and, upon presentation for such purpose, the Bondowner Representative as registrar shall, under such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, transfer or cause to be transferred, on said books, Bonds as hereinbefore provided.

Section 2.07. Replacement of Bonds. Upon receipt of evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of any of the Bonds, or of any replacement Bonds, and, in the case of any such loss, theft, or destruction, upon the delivery of an indemnity agreement reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer or, in the case of any mutilation, upon the surrender and cancellation of such mutilated Bond, the Issuer, at the expense of the Holder of such Bond, will issue and the Bondowner Representative will authenticate a new Bond, of like tenor and series, in lieu of such lost, destroyed or mutilated Bond.

ARTICLE III

ISSUANCE OF BONDS; APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS

Section 3.01. Authentication and Delivery of the Bonds. Upon the execution and delivery of this Indenture, the Issuer shall execute the Bonds and deliver them to the Bondowner Representative. Thereupon, and upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in this Section, and without any further action on the part of the Issuer, the Bondowner Representative shall authenticate the Bonds in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding the Authorized Amount, and shall deliver them pursuant to the Written Order of the Issuer hereinafter mentioned. Prior to the authentication and delivery of any of the Bonds by the Bondowner Representative, there shall have been delivered to the Bondowner Representative each of the following:

(a) a Certified Resolution authorizing issuance and sale of the Bonds and execution and delivery by the Issuer of the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Regulatory Agreement;

(b) original executed counterparts of this Indenture, the Regulatory Agreement, the Tax Certificate, the Loan Agreement, the Deed of Trust and all of the other Loan Documents, all in form and content satisfactory to the Bondowner Representative, and the original executed Note;

(c) a Written Order of the Issuer to the Bondowner Representative to authenticate and deliver the Bonds as directed in such Written Order, upon payment to the Bondowner Representative, for the account of the Issuer, of the Initial Disbursement;

(d) a letter in the form of Exhibit B hereto executed by the Initial Bond Purchaser;

(e) an opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to the due execution and delivery of the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Bonds and the exclusion from gross income of the Bondowners of interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes; and

(f) an opinion of counsel to the Borrower addressed to the Issuer to the effect that the Loan Documents to which the Borrower is a party and the Regulatory Agreement are valid and binding obligations of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with their terms, subject to such exceptions and qualifications as are acceptable to the Issuer.

Section 3.02. Application of Proceeds of Bonds. The proceeds received on the Closing Date by the Issuer from the sale of the Bonds shall be deposited with the Bondowner Representative, who shall deposit any portion of such proceeds which are not to be concurrently disbursed to or for the account of the Borrower into the Program Fund created pursuant to Section 3.03. The Bondowner Representative shall deposit any portion of any future advance of the purchase price of the Bonds which is not to be concurrently disbursed to or for the Program Fund.

Section 3.03. Program Fund. (a) There is hereby created and established with the Bondowner Representative a fund which shall be designated the "Program Fund." Upon the initial delivery of the Bonds, there shall be deposited in the Program Fund the amount specified in Section 3.02. If required under the provisions of Section 3.02, the Bondowner Representative shall deposit any future advances of the purchase price of the Bonds to the Program Fund. Amounts deposited or held in such fund shall be applied only as provided in this Section.

(b) The Initial Disbursement deposited in the Program Fund on the Closing Date shall be disbursed by the Bondowner Representative to or upon the order of the Borrower to pay Development Costs.

(c) The Issuer hereby authorizes and directs the disbursement by the Bondowner Representative to the Borrower of the remaining principal amount of the Bonds represented by future advances of the purchase price of the Bonds and any amounts from time to time on deposit in the Program Fund upon receipt by the Bondowner Representative of a written request of the Borrower, accompanied by the documents required under the Loan Agreement), and a determination of the Bondowner Representative that the conditions to disbursement contained in the Loan Agreement have been satisfied or waived.

(d) Neither the Bondowner Representative nor the Issuer shall be responsible for the application by the Borrower of monies disbursed to the Borrower in accordance with this Section 3.03.

(e) Pursuant to the CDLAC Resolution, CDLAC has transferred to the Issuer authorization to use \$4,800,000 of the 2011 State Ceiling on Qualified Private Activity Bonds (as such terms are used in the CDLAC Resolution) for the issuance of the Bonds (the "2011 Allocation"), and CDLAC has provided the Issuer with the authority to carry forward the 2011 Allocation so that it may be used with respect to advances of the purchase price of the Bonds through December 31, 2014. In light of the foregoing, notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture or the Loan Agreement, from and after the earlier of the Conversion Date or December 31, 2014, no further advances of the purchase price of the Bonds shall occur; provided, however, the December 31, 2014 date in this sentence instead shall be December 31, 2011 in the event that Bond Counsel provides written notice to the Issuer, the Bondowner

Representative and the Borrower to the effect that all actions needed to carry forward the 2011 Allocation have not been taken.

(f) During the period when the Bondowner Representative and/or its affiliates are the Holders of all of the Bonds, the Program Fund need not be separately established or administered but rather the Bondowner Representative may hold and administer any amounts to be deposited in such fund in the manner it customarily employs for administration and servicing of amounts to be loaned to borrowers, so long as at all times the Bondowner Representative can determine the amounts attributable to the Bonds and the Loan and any investment earnings thereon.

ARTICLE IV

REDEMPTION OF BONDS

Section 4.01. Circumstances of Redemption. The Bonds are subject to redemption upon the circumstances, on the dates and at the prices set forth as follows:

(a) The Bonds shall be subject to redemption in whole or in part on any date that the Note is subject to prepayment, at a price equal to the principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed plus interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption, plus a Premium equal in amount to any premium payable pursuant to the Note in connection with the related prepayment of the Note (as required or permitted under the terms of the Note), upon and in an amount equal to any such prepayment of the principal of the Note in whole or in part.

(b) The Bonds shall be subject to redemption in whole on any date at a price equal to the principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed plus interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption, plus a Premium equal in amount to any premium paid in connection with the prepayment of the Note (as required under the terms of the Note), upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under and as defined in the Loan Agreement and a written request of the Bondowner Representative that a redemption in full of the Bonds occur.

(c) The Bonds shall be subject to redemption in part, at a price equal to the principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed plus interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without premium, upon and in the amount of any scheduled payment of principal of the Note.

The Bondowner Representative is hereby authorized and directed, and hereby agrees, to fix the date for any such redemption, and, if Revenues are available, to redeem the Bonds so called on the date so fixed by the Bondowner Representative. If there is more than one Bondowner as of any date of redemption, Bonds shall be redeemed pro rata among the Bondowners. So long as there is only one Bondowner, the Bondowner need not surrender its Bond in connection with any redemption of Bonds.

Section 4.02. No Notice of Redemption. No notice of redemption of the Bonds need be given.

Section 4.03. Effect of Redemption. Moneys for payment of the redemption price of Bonds being held by the Bondowner Representative, the Bonds so called for redemption shall, on the redemption date selected by the Bondowner Representative, become due and payable at

the redemption price specified herein, interest on the Bonds so called for redemption shall cease to accrue, said Bonds shall cease to be entitled to any lien, benefit or security under this Indenture, and the holders of said Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of the redemption price thereof.

All Bonds fully redeemed pursuant to the provisions of this Article IV shall be destroyed by the Bondowner Representative, which shall thereupon deliver to the Issuer, upon the Issuer's written request, a certificate evidencing such destruction.

ARTICLE V

REVENUES

Section 5.01. Power to Issue Bonds; Pledge of Revenues. The Issuer is duly authorized pursuant to law to issue the Bonds and to enter into this Indenture and to pledge and assign the Revenues and other assets purposed to be pledged and assigned, respectively, under this Indenture in the manner and to the extent provided in this Indenture. The Issuer has duly authorized the execution and delivery of the Bonds and the Indenture under the terms and provisions of the Housing Act and a resolution adopted by the Board of Supervisors of the Issuer and further represents, covenants and warrants that all requirements have been met and procedures have occurred in order to ensure the enforceability against the Issuer of the Bonds and the Indenture. The Issuer has taken all necessary action and has complied with all provisions of the Housing Act required to make the Bonds and the Indenture the valid, legal and binding limited obligations of the Issuer.

All of the Revenues are hereby irrevocably pledged to the punctual payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds. The Issuer also hereby transfers, grants a security interest in and assigns to the Bondowner Representative, for the benefit of the holders from time to time of the Bonds all of its right, title and interest in (a) the Revenues, (b) all other amounts payable to Issuer under, or pursuant to, the Note and the other Loan Documents, including but not limited to all proceeds of any title insurance policy, casualty insurance policy or other insurance policy, all proceeds of any condemnation or other taking and all revenues, proceeds, payments and other amounts received from any foreclosure (or action in lieu of foreclosure) or other enforcement action taken pursuant to the Deed of Trust or any other Loan Document (other than the Reserved Rights and amounts that are not Revenues); (c) all amounts from time to time on deposit in any fund or account created hereunder, under the Loan Agreement or under any other Loan Document and held by the Bondowner Representative; (d) the Deed of Trust; (e) the Loan Agreement (except for the Reserved Rights and amounts that are not Revenues); (f) the Note; (g) the other Loan Documents; (h) any other amounts or agreements referenced in the Loan Agreement as security for the repayment of the Bonds; and (i) all proceeds of the foregoing, whether voluntary or involuntary; provided, however, that any amounts or payments specifically excluded from the definition "Revenues" in Section 1.01 hereof shall not be pledged, in any case, to the payment of the Bonds under this Section 5.01. Any Revenues which are collected or received by the Issuer shall be deemed to be held, and to have been collected or received, by the Issuer as the agent of the Bondowner Representative, and shall forthwith be paid by the Issuer to the Bondowner Representative.

The Issuer hereby acknowledges and agrees that, as a result of the assignment and pledge provided for in this Section 5.01, the Issuer has assigned and pledged to Bondowner Representative, and Bondowner Representative shall have the sole right to hold and exercise, all of the rights and remedies given to Issuer under the Loan Agreement, the Note, the Deed of Trust and the other Loan Documents (except for the Reserved Rights and as expressly set forth

in the Regulatory Agreement, which allows the Issuer to independently pursue remedies thereunder), including, but not limited to, the following: (i) the right to administer and service the Loan; (ii) the right to enforce the terms and provisions of the Loan Documents; (iii) the right to record and/or file all documents, instruments and agreements which Bondowner Representative deems necessary or desirable to create, preserve, protect and/or release the liens created by the Deed of Trust and the other Loan Documents; and (iv) the right to collect, hold and disburse amounts to be collected, held and/or disbursed under the Loan Documents, including, but not limited to, principal, interest, fees (other than fees payable to the Issuer), default interest, late payment charges, real estate tax impounds, insurance impounds, operating reserve deposits, replacement reserve deposits, title insurance proceeds, casualty insurance proceeds, other insurance proceeds, condemnation and other taking awards and proceeds and other amounts.

All Revenues and all amounts on deposit in the funds and accounts created hereunder or under the Loan Agreement and held by the Bondowner Representative shall be held for the benefit of the holders from time to time of the Bonds, but shall nevertheless be disbursed, allocated and applied solely for the uses and purposes hereinafter set forth in this Article V.

The Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer, payable solely from and secured by the pledge of the Revenues hereunder. None of the Issuer, the City of Pinole or the State of California or any of its political subdivisions shall be directly, indirectly, contingently or morally obligated to use any other moneys or assets to pay all or any portion of the debt service due on the Bonds, to levy or to pledge any form of taxation whatever therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment. The Bonds are not a pledge of the faith and credit of the Issuer, the City of Pinole or the State of California or any of its political subdivisions nor do they constitute indebtedness within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation. The Issuer has no taxing power.

The Issuer shall not be liable for payment of the principal of Premium, if any, redemption price or interest on the Bonds or any other costs, expenses, losses, damages, claims or actions, of any conceivable kind on any conceivable theory, under or by reason of or in connection with this Indenture, the Bonds or any other documents, except only to the extent amounts are received for the payment thereof from the Borrower under the Note or the Loan Agreement.

Section 5.02. Bond Fund. There is hereby created and established with the Bondowner Representative a separate fund which shall be designated the "Bond Fund," which fund shall be applied only as provided in this Section.

The Bondowner Representative shall deposit in the Bond Fund from time to time, upon receipt thereof, all Revenues, including (i) income received from the investment of moneys on deposit in the Bond Fund, and (ii) any other Revenues, including insurance proceeds, condemnation awards and other Loan payments or prepayments received from or for the account of the Borrower. The Bondowner Representative shall provide notice to the Issuer, upon written request of the Issuer, of the amounts received by the Bondowner Representative which constitute Revenues or are otherwise deposited to the Bond Fund, and of any failure by the Borrower to make timely payments on the Note.

Except as provided in Section 10.02, moneys in the Bond Fund shall be used solely for the payment of the principal of and Premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds as the same shall become due, whether at maturity or upon redemption or acceleration or otherwise.

On each date on which principal of or interest on the Bonds is due and payable, the Bondowner Representative shall pay such amount from the Bond Fund.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, to the extent that there is only one Bondowner, any payment on the Note from the Borrower to the Bondowner Representative shall be deemed to be a payment by the Issuer on the Bonds, and there shall be no requirement that amounts so paid be deposited to the Bond Fund.

Section 5.03. Investment of Moneys. Except as otherwise provided in this Section, any moneys in any of the funds and accounts to be established by the Bondowner Representative pursuant to this Indenture shall be invested by the Bondowner Representative in Investment Securities selected and directed in writing by the Borrower, with respect to which payments of principal thereof and interest thereon are scheduled or otherwise payable not later than one day prior to the date on which it is estimated that such moneys will be required by the Bondowner Representative shall invest such monies in Investment Securities described in clause (b) of the definition thereof. The Bondowner Representative shall have no liability or responsibility for any loss resulting from any investment made in accordance with this Section 5.03.

Except as otherwise provided in the next sentence, all investments of amounts deposited in any fund or account created by or pursuant to this Indenture, or otherwise containing gross proceeds of the Bonds (within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code) shall be acquired, disposed of, and valued (as of the date that valuation is required by this Indenture or the Code) at Fair Market Value. Investments in funds or accounts (or portions thereof) that are subject to a yield restriction under applicable provisions of the Code shall be valued at their present value (within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code). The Bondowner Representative shall have no duty to determine Fair Market Value or present value hereunder.

For the purpose of determining the amount in any fund or account, all Investment Securities credited to such fund or account shall be valued at the lower of cost or par (which shall be measured exclusive of accrued interest) after the first payment of interest following purchase.

Any interest, profit or loss on such investment of moneys in any fund or account shall be credited or charged to the respective funds or accounts from which such investments are made. The Bondowner Representative may sell or present for redemption any obligations so purchased whenever it shall be necessary in order to provide moneys to meet any payment, and the Bondowner Representative shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from such sale or redemption.

The Bondowner Representative may make any and all investments permitted under this Section 5.03 through its own trust or banking department or any affiliate and may pay said department reasonable, customary fees for placing such investments. The Bondowner Representative and its affiliates may act as principal, agent, sponsor, advisor or depository with respect to Investment Securities under this Section 5.03.

The Issuer (and the Borrower by its execution of the Loan Agreement) acknowledges that to the extent regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency or other applicable regulatory entity grant the Issuer or the Borrower the right to receive brokerage confirmations of security transactions as they occur, the Issuer and the Borrower will not receive such confirmations to the extent permitted by law. The Bondowner Representative will furnish the Borrower and the Issuer (to the extent requested by it) periodic cash transaction statements which include detail for all investment transactions made by the Bondowner Representative hereunder. **Section 5.04.** Enforcement of Obligations. The Bondowner Representative shall be entitled (but not required, unless (i) requested to do so by the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding and (ii) if required by the Bondowner Representative, provided with indemnification to its satisfaction against the costs, expenses and liabilities incurred in compliance with such request) to take all steps, actions and proceedings reasonably necessary in its judgment: (a) to enforce the terms, covenants and conditions of, and preserve and protect the priority of its interest in and under, the Loan Agreement, any other Loan Document, the Regulatory Agreement and the Deed of Trust, (b) to require compliance with all covenants, agreements and conditions on the part of the Issuer contained in this Indenture with respect to the Revenues, and (c) to be reimbursed for its expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees) by the Borrower in taking any action referred to in the preceding clauses (a) and/or (b).

ARTICLE VI

COVENANTS OF THE ISSUER

Section 6.01. Payment of Principal and Interest. The Issuer shall punctually pay, but only out of Revenues as herein provided, the principal and the interest (and Premium, if any) to become due in respect of every Bond issued hereunder at the times and places and in the manner provided herein and in the Bonds, according to the true intent and meaning thereof. When and as paid in full, all Bonds shall be delivered to the Bondowner Representative and shall forthwith be destroyed.

Section 6.02. Paying Agents. The Issuer, with the written approval of the Bondowner Representative, may appoint and at all times have one or more paying agents in such place or places as the Issuer may designate, for the payment of the principal of, and the interest (and premium, if any) on, the Bonds. It shall be the duty of the Bondowner Representative to make such arrangements with any such paying agent as may be necessary and feasible to assure, to the extent of the moneys held by the Bondowner Representative for such payment, the availability of funds for the prompt payment of the principal of and interest and Premium, if any, on the Bonds presented at any place of payment. The paying agent initially appointed hereunder is the Bondowner Representative.

Section 6.03. Preservation of Revenues; Amendment of Documents. The Issuer (a) shall not take any action to interfere with or impair the pledge and assignment hereunder of Revenues and the assignment to the Bondowner Representative of rights of the Issuer under the Agreement and the Deed of Trust, or the Bondowner Representative's enforcement of any rights hereunder or thereunder, (b) shall not take any action to impair the validity or enforceability of the Agreement or the Deed of Trust, and (c) shall not waive any of its rights under or any other provision of or permit any amendment of the Agreement or the Deed of Trust, without the prior written consent of the Bondowner Representative; provided that such consent of the Bondowner Representative shall not be required if the Bondowner Representative shall have received an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such amendment (i) is required to preserve the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes or compliance by the Bonds or the Development with the Housing Act and the laws of the State of California; and (ii) will not adversely affect the interests of the Bondholders.

Section 6.04. Compliance with Indenture. The Issuer shall not issue, or permit to be issued, any Bonds secured or payable in any manner out of Revenues other than in accordance

with the provisions of this Indenture; it being understood that the Issuer reserves the right to issue obligations payable from and secured by sources other than the Revenues and the assets assigned herein. The Issuer shall not suffer or permit any default within its power to occur under this Indenture, but shall faithfully observe and perform all the covenants, conditions and requirements hereof. So long as any Bonds are outstanding, the Issuer shall not create or suffer to be created any pledge, lien or charge of any type whatsoever upon all or any part of the Revenues, other than the lien of this Indenture.

Section 6.05. Further Assurances. Whenever and so often as requested so to do by the Bondowner Representative, the Issuer (at the sole cost and expense of the Borrower) shall promptly execute and deliver or cause to be executed and delivered all such other and further instruments, documents or assurances, and promptly do or cause to be done all such other and further things, as may be necessary or reasonably required in order to further and more fully vest in the Bondowner Representative and the Bondholders all of the rights, interests, powers, benefits, privileges and advantages conferred or intended to be conferred upon them by this Indenture and to perfect and maintain as perfected such rights, interests, powers, benefits, privileges and advantages.

Section 6.06. No Arbitrage. Solely in reliance upon the covenants and representations of the Borrower in the Loan Agreement, in the Regulatory Agreement and in the Tax Certificate, the Issuer shall not take, nor permit nor suffer to be taken by the Bondowner Representative or otherwise, any action with respect to the gross proceeds of the Bonds which if such action had been reasonably expected to have been taken, or had been deliberately and intentionally taken, on the date of the issuance of the Bonds would have caused the Bonds to be "arbitrage bonds" within the meaning of Section 148(a) of the Code and Regulations promulgated thereunder.

Section 6.07. Limitation of Expenditure of Proceeds. The Issuer shall assure, solely in reliance upon the covenants and representations of the Borrower in the Loan Agreement, in the Regulatory Agreement and in the Tax Certificate, that not less than 95% of the amount advanced as the purchase price of the Bonds, plus premium (if any) paid on the purchase of the Bonds by the original purchaser thereof from the Issuer, less any original discount, are used for Qualified Development Costs and less than 25 percent of such amount is used for land or an interest in land.

Section 6.08. Rebate of Excess Investment Earnings to United States. The Issuer hereby covenants, solely in reliance upon the covenants and representations of the Borrower in the Loan Agreement, in the Regulatory Agreement and in the Tax Certificate (including the Borrower's covenants in Sections 3.3(h)(iv), 11.39 and 11.44(c) in the Loan Agreement and in Section 2(r) of the Regulatory Agreement) to calculate or cause to be calculated excess investment earnings to the extent required by Section 148(f) of the Code and the Borrower shall cause payment of an amount equal to excess investment earnings to the United States in accordance with the Regulations, all at the sole expense of the Borrower.

Section 6.09. Limitation on Issuance Costs. The Issuer shall assure, solely in reliance upon the covenants and representations of the Borrower in the Loan Agreement, in the Regulatory Agreement and in the Tax Certificate, that, from the proceeds of the Bonds received from the original purchaser thereof and investment earnings thereon, an amount not in excess of two percent (2%) of the face amount of the Bonds will be used to pay for, or provide for the payment of, Issuance Costs. For this purpose, if the fees of such original purchaser are retained as a discount on the purchase of the Bonds, such retention shall be deemed to be an expenditure of proceeds of the Bonds for said fees.

Section 6.10. Federal Guarantee Prohibition. The Issuer covenants that it shall take no action nor, solely in reliance upon the covenants and representations of the Borrower in the Loan Agreement, in the Regulatory Agreement and in the Tax Certificate, knowingly permit nor suffer any action to be taken if the result of the same would be to cause the Bonds to be "federally guaranteed" within the meaning of the Code.

Section 6.11. Prohibited Facilities. The Issuer, solely in reliance upon the covenants and representations of the Borrower in the Loan Agreement, in the Regulatory Agreement and in the Tax Certificate, shall assure that no portion of the proceeds of the Bonds will be used to provide any airplane, skybox or other private luxury box, health club facility, facility primarily used for gambling, or store the principal business of which is the sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off premises. The Issuer, solely in reliance upon the covenants and representations of the Borrower in the Loan Agreement, in the Regulatory Agreement and in the Tax Certificate, shall assure that no portion of the proceeds of the Bonds will be used for an office unless the office is located on the premises of the facilities constituting the Development and unless not more than a de minimis amount of the functions to be performed at such office is not related to the day-to-day operations of the Development.

Section 6.12. Use Covenant. Solely in reliance upon the covenants and representations of the Borrower in the Loan Agreement, in the Regulatory Agreement and in the Tax Certificate, the Issuer shall not use or knowingly permit the use of any proceeds of Bonds or any other funds of the Issuer, directly or indirectly, in any manner, and shall not take or permit to be taken any other action or actions, which would result in any of the Bonds being treated as an obligation not described in Section 142(d) of the Code by reason of such Bond not meeting the requirements of Section 142(d) of the Code.

Section 6.13. Immunities and Limitations of Responsibility of Issuer. The Issuer shall be entitled to the advice of counsel (who, except as otherwise provided, may be counsel for any Bondholder), and the Issuer shall be wholly protected as to action taken or omitted in reliance on such advice. The Issuer may rely conclusively on any communication or other document furnished to it hereunder and reasonably believed by it to be genuine. The Issuer shall in no event be liable for the application or misapplication of funds or for other acts or defaults by any person, except its own officers and employees. When any payment or consent or other action by it is called for hereby, it may defer such action pending receipt of such evidence (if any) as it may require in support thereof. The Issuer shall not be required to take any remedial action (other than the giving of notice) unless indemnity in a form acceptable to the Issuer is furnished for any expense or liability to be incurred in connection with such remedial action, other than liability for failure to meet the standards set forth in this Section. The Issuer shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Borrower for its expenses reasonably incurred or advances reasonably made, with interest at the rate of interest on the Bonds, in the exercise of its rights or the performance of its obligations hereunder, to the extent that it acts without previously obtaining indemnity. No permissive right or power to act which the Issuer may have shall be construed as a requirement to act; and no delay in the exercise of a right or power shall affect its subsequent exercise of the right or power.

A default by the Borrower in any of its covenants, representations and agreements in the Loan Agreement, Regulatory Agreement or Tax Certificate on which the Issuer is relying in Sections 6.06 through 6.12 hereof shall not be considered a default hereunder by the Issuer.

The Borrower has indemnified the Issuer against certain acts and events as set forth in Section 11.38 of the Loan Agreement and Section 9 of the Regulatory Agreement. Such indemnities shall survive payment of the Bonds and discharge of the Indenture. Section 6.14. Additional Representations by the Issuer. The Issuer hereby represents and warrants to the Bondholders and the Bondowner Representative that, as of the Closing Date:

(a) The Issuer is a political subdivision and body corporate and politic of the State and is duly authorized enter into and perform its obligations under this Indenture.

(b) All requirements have been met and procedures have occurred in order to authorize the execution and delivery by the Issuer of this Indenture. The Issuer has taken all necessary action and has complied with all provisions of the law required to make this Indenture a valid and binding limited obligation of the Issuer, except to the extent limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally, by the application of equitable principles regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in equity, or by public policy.

(c) The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Issuer. Nothing in this Indenture shall be construed as requiring the Issuer to provide any financing for the Development, other than to use the proceeds of the Bonds to make the Loan, or to provide sufficient moneys for all of the cost of financing the Project.

(d) To the best knowledge of the Issuer, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation by or before any court, governmental agency or public board or body pending or threatened against the Issuer that (i) affects or seeks to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the execution or delivery of this Indenture, the origination of the Loan or the lending of the proceeds of the Loan to the Borrower, or the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents, (ii) affects or questions the validity or enforceability of the Bonds or the Loan Documents, or (iii) questions the tax-exempt status of interest on the Bonds.

(e) The Issuer will take all actions required by the Code to enable the Issuer to use the 2011 Allocation in connection with advances of the purchase price of the Bonds until the earlier of the Conversion Date or December 31, 2014.

The Issuer makes no representation or warranty that the Development will be adequate or sufficient for the purposes of the Borrower. Nothing in this Indenture shall be construed as requiring the Issuer to provide any financing for the Development other than from the proceeds of the Loan.

ARTICLE VII

DEFAULT

Section 7.01. Events of Default; Acceleration; Waiver of Default. Each of the following events shall constitute an "Event of Default" hereunder:

(a) failure to pay the principal of any Bond when and as the same shall become due and payable (including but not limited to amounts due on the Bonds under Section 4.01 hereof), whether at maturity as therein expressed, by proceedings for redemption, by declaration or otherwise; (b) failure to pay any installment of interest on any Bond when such interest installment shall become due and payable; and

(c) failure by the Issuer to perform or observe any other of the covenants, agreements or conditions on its part in this Indenture or in the Bonds contained, and the continuation of such failure for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof, specifying such default and requiring the same to be remedied, shall have been given to the Issuer and the Borrower by the Bondowner Representative, or to the Issuer, the Borrower and the Bondowner Representative by the holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time outstanding.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a default by the Borrower under the Deed of Trust or the Loan Agreement shall not, in itself, constitute an Event of Default under this Indenture.

No default specified in (c) above shall constitute an Event of Default unless the Issuer or the Borrower shall have failed to correct such default within the applicable period; provided, however, that if the default described in (c) above shall be such that it cannot be corrected within such period, it shall not constitute an Event of Default if corrective action is instituted by the Issuer or the Borrower within the applicable period and diligently pursued until the default is corrected; provided that the time elapsed until completion of corrective action shall not exceed one hundred eighty (180) days. With regard to any alleged default concerning which notice is given to the Borrower under the provisions of (c) above, the Issuer hereby grants the Borrower full authority for the account of the Issuer to perform any covenant or obligation the non-performance of which is alleged in said notice to constitute a default in the name and stead of the Issuer with full power to do any and all things and acts to the same extent that the Issuer could do and perform any such things and acts and with power of substitution.

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default described in (a), (b) or (c) above, the Bondowner Representative may (i) by notice in writing to the Issuer and the Borrower (with a copy to the Investor Limited Partner), declare the principal of all the Bonds then outstanding, and the interest accrued and Premium thereon, to be due and payable immediately, and upon any such declaration the same shall become and shall be immediately due and payable, anything in this Indenture or in the Bonds contained to the contrary notwithstanding, and/or (ii) pursue such other remedies as are permitted under applicable law. Upon any such declaration of acceleration, the Bondowner Representative shall fix a date for payment of the Bonds.

The preceding paragraph, however, is subject to the condition that if, at any time after the principal of the Bonds shall have been so declared due and payable, and before any judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due shall have been obtained or entered as hereinafter provided, there shall have been deposited with the Bondowner Representative a sum sufficient to pay all the principal of the Bonds matured or required to be redeemed prior to such declaration and all matured installments of interest (if any) upon all the Bonds, with interest on such overdue installments of principal, Premium, and the reasonable fees and expenses of the Bondowner Representative, its agents and counsel, and any and all other defaults actually known to a Responsible Officer of the Bondowner Representative (other than in the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds due and payable solely by reason of such declaration) shall have been made good or cured to the satisfaction of the Bondowner Representative or provision deemed by the Bondowner Representative to be adequate shall have been made therefor, then, and in every such case, the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding, by written notice to the Issuer and to the Bondowner Representative and with indemnification satisfactory to the Bondowner Representative, may, on behalf of the holders of all the Bonds, rescind and annul such declaration and its consequences and waive such default; but no such rescission, annulment or waiver shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default, or shall impair or exhaust any right or power consequent thereon.

Section 7.02. Institution of Legal Proceedings by Bondowner Representative. If one or more of the Events of Default shall occur, the Bondowner Representative in its discretion may proceed to protect or enforce its rights or the rights of the holders of Bonds under the Housing Act or under this Indenture and the Agreement, by a suit in equity or action at law, either for the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein or therein, or in aid of the execution of any power herein or therein granted, or by mandamus or other appropriate proceeding for the enforcement of any other legal or equitable remedy as the Bondowner Representative shall deem most effectual in support of any of its rights or duties hereunder.

Section 7.03. Application of Moneys Collected by Bondowner Representative. Any moneys collected by the Bondowner Representative pursuant to Section 7.02 shall be applied in the order following, at the date or dates fixed by the Bondowner Representative and, in the case of distribution of such moneys on account of principal (or premium, if any) or interest, upon presentation of the Bonds and stamping thereon the payment, if only partially paid, and upon surrender thereof, if fully paid:

<u>First</u>: For payment of all amounts due to the Bondowner Representative under Section 8.06.

<u>Second</u>: For deposit in the Bond Fund to be applied to payment of the principal of all Bonds then due and unpaid, Premium and interest thereon with application as between principal, Premium and interest as the Bondowner Representative shall determine in its sole discretion; and if there is more than one Bondowner ratably to the persons entitled thereto without discrimination or preference.

<u>Third</u>: For payment of all other amounts due from the Borrower to any person hereunder or under the Loan Agreement.

Fourth: To the Borrower.

Section 7.04. Effect of Delay or Omission to Pursue Remedy. No delay or omission of the Bondowner Representative or of any holder of Bonds to exercise any right or power arising from any default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or acquiescence therein, and every power and remedy given by this Article VII to the Bondowner Representative or to the holders of Bonds may be exercised from time to time and as often as shall be deemed expedient. In case the Bondowner Representative shall have proceeded to enforce any right under this Indenture, and such proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned because of waiver or for any other reason, or shall have been determined adversely to the Bondowner Representative, then and in every such case the Issuer, the Bondowner Representative and the holders of the Bonds, severally and respectively, shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder in respect to the trust estate; and all remedies, rights and powers of the Issuer, the Bondowner Representative and the holders of the Bondowner Representat

Section 7.05. Remedies Cumulative. No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the Bondowner Representative or to any holder of the Bonds is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity.

Section 7.06. Covenant to Pay Bonds in Event of Default. The Issuer covenants that, upon the happening of any Event of Default, the Issuer will pay to the Bondowner Representative upon demand, but only out of Revenues, for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds, the whole amount then due and payable thereon (by declaration or otherwise) for interest or for principal, or both, as the case may be, Premium and all other sums which may be due hereunder or secured hereby, including reasonable compensation to the Bondowner Representative, its agents and counsel, and any expenses or liabilities incurred by the Bondowner Representative hereunder. In case the Issuer shall fail to pay the same forthwith upon such demand, the Bondowner Representative, in its own name, and upon being indemnified to its satisfaction shall be entitled to institute proceedings at law or in equity in any court of competent jurisdiction to recover judgment for the whole amount due and unpaid, together with costs and reasonable attorneys' fees, subject, however, to the condition that such judgment, if any, shall be limited to, and payable solely out of, Revenues and any other assets pledged, transferred or assigned to the Bondowner Representative under Section 5.01 as herein provided and not otherwise. The Bondowner Representative shall be entitled to recover such judgment as aforesaid, either before or after or during the pendency of any proceedings for the enforcement of this Indenture, and the right of the Bondowner Representative to recover such judgment shall not be affected by the exercise of any other right, power or remedy for the enforcement of the provisions of this Indenture.

Section 7.07. Bondowner Representative Appointed Agent for Bondholders. The Bondowner Representative is hereby appointed the agent of the holders of all Bonds outstanding hereunder for the purpose of filing any claims relating to the Bonds.

Section 7.08. Power of Bondowner Representative to Control Proceedings. In the event that the Bondowner Representative, upon the happening of an Event of Default, shall have taken any action, by judicial proceedings or otherwise, pursuant to its duties hereunder, whether upon its own discretion or upon the written request of the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding, it shall have full power, in the exercise of its discretion for the best interests of the holders of the Bonds, with respect to the continuance, discontinuance, withdrawal, compromise, settlement or other disposal of such action; provided, however, that the Bondowner Representative shall not, unless there no longer continues an Event of Default hereunder, discontinue, withdraw, compromise or settle, or otherwise dispose of any litigation pending at law or in equity, if at the time there has been filed with it a written request signed by the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the Bonds outstanding hereunder opposing such discontinuance, withdrawal, compromise, settlement or other disposal of such action?

Section 7.09. Limitation on Bondholders' Right to Sue. No holder of any Bond issued hereunder (except the Bondowner Representative, if it is a holder of Bonds) shall have the right to institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, for any remedy under or upon this Indenture, unless (a) such holder shall have previously given to the Bondowner Representative written notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder; (b) the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of all the Bonds then outstanding shall have made written request upon the Bondowner Representative to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name; (c) said holders shall have tendered to the Bondowner Representative indemnity satisfactory to it against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in compliance with such request; and (d) the Bondowner Representative shall have refused or omitted to comply with such request for a period of thirty (30) days after such written request shall have been received by, and said tender of indemnity shall have been made to, the Bondowner Representative.

Such notification, request, tender of indemnity and refusal or omission are hereby declared, in every case, to be conditions precedent to the exercise by any holder of Bonds (except the Bondowner Representative, if it is a holder of Bonds) of any remedy hereunder; it being understood and intended that no one or more holders of Bonds (except the Bondowner Representative, if it is a holder of Bonds) shall have any right in any manner whatever by its or their action to enforce any right under this Indenture, except in the manner herein provided, and that all proceedings at law or in equity to enforce any provision of this Indenture shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner herein provided and for the equal benefit of all holders of the outstanding Bonds.

The right of any holder of any Bond to receive payment of the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on such Bond out of Revenues, as herein and therein provided, on and after the respective due dates expressed in such Bond, or to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such respective dates, shall not be impaired or affected without the consent of such holder, except as otherwise provided or allowed pursuant to Sections 5.04, 7.02 and/or 7.08 of this Indenture.

Section 7.10. Limitation of Liability to Revenues. Notwithstanding anything in this Indenture contained, the Issuer shall not be required to advance any moneys derived from any source, other than the Revenues, for any of the purposes mentioned in this Indenture, whether for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds or for any other purpose of this Indenture. The Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer, and are payable from and secured by the Revenues only. The Issuer shall not be liable for any costs, expenses, losses, damages, claims or actions, of any conceivable kind on any conceivable theory, under or by reason of or in connection with the Loan Agreement, the Bonds or this Indenture, except only to the extent amounts are received for the payment thereof under the Loan Documents.

ARTICLE VIII

THE BONDOWNER REPRESENTATIVE AND AGENTS

Section 8.01. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Bondowner Representative. The Bondowner Representative shall perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Indenture and no additional covenants or duties of the Bondowner Representative shall be implied in this Indenture. All of the provisions of the next two paragraphs of this Section 8.01 shall be effective if and only during such time as the Bondowner Representative is not the sole owner of the Bonds.

The Bondowner Representative shall, during the existence of any Event of Default (which has not been cured or waived), exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by this Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as reasonable persons familiar with such matters would exercise or use under similar circumstances in the conduct of their own affairs.

No provision of this Indenture shall be construed to relieve the Bondowner Representative from liability for its own negligent action or its own negligent failure to act, except that:

(a) the duties and obligations of the Bondowner Representative shall be determined solely by the express provisions of this Indenture, the Bondowner Representative shall not be liable except for the performance of such duties and obligations as are specifically set forth in this Indenture, and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture against the Bondowner Representative; and in the absence of bad faith on the part of the Bondowner Representative, the Bondowner Representative may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon any certificate or opinion furnished to the Bondowner Representative conforming to the requirements of this Indenture;

(b) At all times, regardless of whether or not any Event of Default shall exist, (1) the Bondowner Representative shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a Responsible Officer or officers or by any agent or attorney of the Bondowner Representative appointed with due care unless (except as otherwise provided in Section 8.01(f)) the Bondowner Representative was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts; and (2) the Bondowner Representative shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the direction of the Issuer, accompanied by an opinion of Bond Counsel as provided herein or in accordance with the directions of the holders of not less than a majority, or such other percentage as may be required hereunder, in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time outstanding relating to the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Bondowner Representative, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Bondowner Representative under this Indenture;

(c) The Bondowner Representative shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to have notice of (i) any default hereunder or under the Loan Agreement, except defaults under Section 7.01(a) or (b) hereof, unless a Responsible Officer of the Bondowner Representative shall be specifically notified in writing of such default by the Issuer or the owners of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then outstanding, or (ii) any default under the Regulatory Agreement unless a Responsible Officer of the Bondowner Representative shall be specifically notified in writing of such default by the Issuer;

(d) Before taking any action under Article VII hereof or this Section at the request or direction of the Bondholders, the Bondowner Representative may require that a satisfactory indemnity bond be furnished by the Bondholders, for the reimbursement of all costs and expenses to which it may be put and to protect it against all liability which may be incurred in compliance with such request or direction, except liability which is adjudicated to have resulted from its negligence or willful misconduct in connection with any action so taken;

(e) Upon any application or request by the Issuer to the Bondowner Representative to take any action under any provision of this Indenture, the Issuer shall furnish to the Bondowner Representative a Certificate of the Issuer stating that all conditions precedent, if any, provided for in this Indenture relating to the proposed action have been complied with, and an Opinion of Counsel stating that in the opinion of such Counsel all such conditions precedent, if any, have been complied with, except that in the case of any such application or request as to which the furnishing of such documents is specifically required by any provision of this Indenture relating to such particular application or request, no additional certificate or opinion need be furnished;

(f) The Bondowner Representative may execute any of the powers hereunder or perform any duties hereunder either directly or through agents or attorneys and the Bondowner Representative shall not be responsible for any negligence or misconduct on the part of any agent or attorney appointed with due care by it hereunder (but this provision shall not prohibit any action against any such agent or attorney for their negligent acts); (g) Neither the Issuer nor the Borrower shall be deemed to be agents of the Bondowner Representative for any purpose, and the Bondowner Representative shall not be liable for any noncompliance of any of them in connection with their respective duties hereunder or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby;

(h) The Bondowner Representative shall be entitled to rely upon telephonic notice for all purposes whatsoever so long as the Bondowner Representative reasonably believes such telephonic notice has been given by a person authorized to give such notice;

(i) The immunities extended to the Bondowner Representative also extend to its directors, officers, employees and agents;

(j) Under no circumstances shall the Bondowner Representative be liable in its individual capacity for the obligations evidenced by the Bonds, it being the sole obligation of the Bondowner Representative to administer, for the benefit of the Bondholders, the various funds and accounts established hereunder;

(k) No permissive power, right or remedy conferred upon the Bondowner Representative hereunder shall be construed to impose a duty to exercise such power, right or remedy;

(l) The Bondowner Representative shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the direction of a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds Outstanding related to the exercise of any right, power or remedy available to the Bondowner Representative; and

(m) The Bondowner Representative shall have no duty to review any financial statements, budgets or other financial information filed with it by or on behalf of the Borrower under or pursuant to the Loan Agreement.

None of the provisions contained in this Indenture shall require the Bondowner Representative to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur individual financial liability in the performance of any of its duties or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers. Whether or not therein expressly so provided, every provision of this Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Regulatory Agreement or any other document relating to the conduct, powers or duties of, or affecting the liability of, or affording protection to, the Bondowner Representative shall be subject to the provisions of this Article VIII.

Section 8.02. Right of Bondowner Representative to Rely Upon Documents, Etc. Except as otherwise provided in Section 8.01:

(a) The Bondowner Representative may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, bond or other paper or document reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed and presented by the proper party or parties;

(b) Any consent, demand, direction, election, notice, order or request of the Issuer mentioned herein shall be sufficiently evidenced by a Written Consent, Written Demand, Written Direction, Written Election, Written Notice, Written Order or Written Request of the Issuer, and any resolution of the Issuer may be evidenced to the Bondowner Representative by a Certified Resolution; (c) The Bondowner Representative may consult with counsel (who may be counsel for the Issuer, counsel for the Bondowner Representative or Bond Counsel) and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or suffered by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance with the opinion of such counsel;

(d) Whenever in the administration of this Indenture the Bondowner Representative shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking or suffering any action hereunder, such matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed) may, in the absence of negligence or bad faith on the part of the Bondowner Representative, be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a Certificate of the Issuer; and such Certificate of the Issuer shall, in the absence of negligence or bad faith on the part of the Bondowner Representative, be full warrant to the Bondowner Representative for any action taken or suffered by it under the provisions of this Indenture upon the faith thereof; and

(e) The Bondowner Representative shall not be bound to make any investigation into the facts or matters stated in any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, direction, consent, order, bond, debenture or other paper or document, but the Bondowner Representative, in its discretion, may make such further inquiry or investigation into such facts or matters as it may see fit.

Section 8.03. Bondowner Representative Not Responsible for Recitals. The recitals contained herein and in the Bonds shall be taken as the statements of the Issuer, and the Bondowner Representative assumes no responsibility for the correctness of the same or for the correctness of the recitals in the Loan Agreement or the Regulatory Agreement. The Bondowner Representative shall have no responsibility with respect to any information, statement or recital in any offering memorandum or other disclosure material prepared or distributed with respect to the Bonds. The Bondowner Representative makes no representations as to the value or condition of any assets pledged or assigned as security for the Bonds, or as to the right, title or interest of the Issuer therein, or as to the security provided thereby or by this Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Deed of Trust or the other Loan Documents, or as to the compliance of the Development with the Housing Act, or as to the tax-exempt status of the Bonds, or as to the technical or financial feasibility of the Development, or as to the validity or sufficiency of this Indenture as an instrument of the Issuer or of the Bonds as obligations of the Issuer. The Bondowner Representative shall not be accountable for the use or application by the Issuer of any of the Bonds authenticated or delivered hereunder or of the use or application of the proceeds of such Bonds by the Issuer or the Borrower or their agents.

Section 8.04. Intervention by Bondowner Representative. So long as and only during any period in which the Bondowner Representative is not the sole owner of the Bonds, the Bondowner Representative may intervene on behalf of the owners of the Bonds in any judicial proceeding to which the Issuer is a party and which, in the opinion of the Bondowner Representative and its counsel, has a substantial bearing on the interests of owners of the Bonds and, subject to the provisions of Section 8.01(d), shall do so if requested in writing by the owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then outstanding.

Section 8.05. Moneys Received by Bondowner Representative. So long as and only during any period in which the Bondowner Representative is not the sole owner of the Bonds, all moneys received by the Bondowner Representative shall, until used or applied as herein provided, be held for the purposes for which they were received, but need not be segregated

from other funds except to the extent required by law or as otherwise provided herein. The Bondowner Representative shall be under no liability for interest on any moneys received by it hereunder except such as it may agree with the Issuer or the Borrower to pay thereon.

Section 8.06. Compensation and Indemnification of Bondowner Representative and Agents. The Borrower is required under the Loan Agreement: (a) to pay to the Bondowner Representative reasonable compensation for all services rendered by it hereunder and under the other agreements related to the Bonds to which it is a party; (b) except as otherwise expressly provided herein, to reimburse the Bondowner Representative upon its request for all reasonable expenses, disbursements and advances incurred or made by the Bondowner Representative in accordance with any provision of this Indenture or other agreement related to the Bonds to which the Bondowner Representative is a party or incurred in complying with any request made by the Issuer with respect to the Bonds (including the reasonable compensation and the expenses and disbursements of its agents and counsel), except any such expense, disbursement or advance attributable in whole or in part to its gross negligence or willful misconduct; (c) to indemnify the Bondowner Representative for, and to hold it harmless against, any loss, liability or expense incurred without gross negligence or willful misconduct on its part, arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or administration of the duties of the Bondowner Representative under this Indenture, including the costs and expenses of defending itself against any claim or liability in connection with the exercise or performance of any of its powers or duties hereunder or other agreement related hereto to which the Bondowner Representative is a party; and (d) to indemnify the Bondowner Representative for any reasonable costs incurred during a period of default hereunder.

If any property, other than cash, shall at any time be held by the Bondowner Representative subject to this Indenture, or any supplemental indenture, as security for the Bonds, the Bondowner Representative, if and to the extent authorized by a receivership, bankruptcy or other court of competent jurisdiction or by the instrument subjecting such property to the provisions of this Indenture as such security for the Bonds, shall be entitled but not obligated to make advances for the purpose of preserving such property or of discharging tax liens or other prior liens or encumbrances thereon. The rights of the Bondowner Representative to compensation for services and to payment or reimbursement for expenses, disbursements, liabilities and advances shall have and is hereby granted a lien and a security interest prior to the Bonds in respect of all property and funds held or collected by the Bondowner Representative as such, except funds held by the Bondowner Representative for the benefit of the holders of particular Bonds, which amounts shall be held solely for the benefit of the Bondholders and used only for the payment of principal of and Premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds. The Bondowner Representative's rights to immunities, indemnities and protection from liability hereunder and its rights to payment of its fees and expenses shall survive its resignation or removal and final payment of the Bonds.

Section 8.07. Qualifications of Bondowner Representative. There shall at all times be a Bondowner Representative hereunder which shall be (a) Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, prior to the Conversion Date; (b) CCRC, on and after the Conversion Date; or (c) in connection with a sale or transfer of the Bonds, an Authorized Participant or other owner of the Bonds as permitted by Section 2.05(b). Any change in the Bondowner Representative referred to in the preceding clause (c) shall be only at the written request of a majority of the principal amount of all of the Bonds outstanding, and any such successor Bondowner Representative referred to in clause (c) of the first sentence of this Section 8.07 shall acknowledge its acceptance of its obligations under this Indenture by a written instrument delivered to the Issuer, the Borrower and, if the successor is not the sole owner of all of the Bonds then Outstanding, the owners of the Bonds. Section 8.08. Merger or Consolidation of Bondowner Representative. Any corporation or association into which the Bondowner Representative may be merged or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation or association resulting from any merger or consolidation to which the Bondowner Representative shall be a party, or any person succeeding to the corporate trust or bond purchase program business of the Bondowner Representative, shall be the successor of the Bondowner Representative hereunder without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, provided that such successor Bondowner Representative shall be eligible under the provisions of the first sentence of Section 8.07.

Section 8.09. Dealing in Bonds. The Bondowner Representative, in its individual capacity, may in good faith buy, sell, own, hold and deal in any of the Bonds, and may join in any action which any Bondholder may be entitled to take with like effect as if it did not act in any capacity hereunder. The Bondowner Representative in its individual capacity, either as principal or agent, may also engage in or be interested in any financial or other transaction with the Issuer, and may act as depository, trustee, bondowner representative or agent for any committee or body of Bondholders secured hereby or other obligations of the Issuer as freely as if it did not act in any capacity hereunder.

Section 8.10. Indemnification of Issuer by Bondowner Representative. The Bondowner Representative acknowledges that notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, the Bondowner Representative is acting as an independent contractor and not as the agent of Issuer in servicing and administering the Bonds and the Loan. The Bondowner Representative agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend the Issuer and its respective members, officers, agents and employees against all loss, costs, damages, expenses, suits, judgments, actions and liabilities of whatever nature (including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, litigation and court costs, amounts paid in settlement, and amounts paid to discharge judgments) directly or indirectly resulting from or arising out of or related to any act or omission on the part of the Bondowner Representative under this Indenture caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of the Bondowner Representative.

If a third party makes a claim against the Issuer that may be subject to indemnification pursuant to this Section 8.10, the Issuer shall give prompt written notice of such claim to the Bondholder Representative; provided, however, that the failure to provide such notice shall not release the Bondholder Representative from any of its obligations hereunder except only to the extent the Bondholder Representative is prejudiced by such failure. The Bondholder Representative shall be entitled to assume and control the defense of such claim at its expense through counsel of its choice, provided that such counsel is reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer. The Issuer shall cooperate with the Bondholder Representative, at the expense of the Bondholder Representative, in such defense and make available to the Bondholder Representative any witnesses, pertinent records, materials and information in the Issuer's possession as reasonably required by the Bondholder Representative. The Issuer shall have no right to settle or compromise any claim or consent to the entry of any judgment against the Issuer which is the subject of indemnification hereunder without the prior written consent of the Bondholder Representative; and the Bondholder Representative shall have no right to settle or compromise any claim or consent to the entry of any judgment against the Issuer without the prior written consent of the Issuer.

Section 8.11. Bondowner Representative Not Agent of Issuer. The Bondowner Representative acknowledges that notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, the Bondowner Representative is acting as an independent contractor and not as the agent of Issuer in servicing and administering the Bonds and the Loan.

ARTICLE IX

MODIFICATION OF INDENTURE

Section 9.01. Modification of Indenture. With the prior written consent of the Bondowner Representative, the Issuer and the Bondowner Representative may from time to time and at any time enter into an indenture or indentures supplemental hereto for the purpose of adding any provisions to or changing in any manner or eliminating any of the provisions of this Indenture or of any supplemental indenture. Upon receipt by the Bondowner Representative of a Certified Resolution authorizing the execution by the Issuer of any such supplemental indenture, and upon the written consent of the Bondowner Representative thereto, the Bondowner Representative shall join with the Issuer in the execution of such supplemental indenture, unless such supplemental indenture affects the rights or obligations of the Borrower or any general partner or limited partner of the Borrower hereunder or under the Loan Agreement, in which case the Bondowner Representative shall enter into such supplemental indenture only if the Bondowner Representative has received the Borrower's, or such general partner's or limited partner's, as applicable, written consent thereto.

Promptly after the execution by the Issuer and the Bondowner Representative of any supplemental indenture pursuant to the provisions of this Section, if the Bondowner Representative is not the sole owner of the Bonds then Outstanding, the Bondowner Representative shall give Bondholders, by first class mail, a notice setting forth in general terms the substance of such supplemental indenture. Any failure of the Bondowner Representative to give such notice, or any defect therein, shall not, however, in any way impair or affect the validity of any such supplemental indenture.

Section 9.02. Effect of Supplemental Indenture. Upon the execution of any supplemental indenture pursuant to the provisions of this Article IX, this Indenture shall be and be deemed to be modified and amended in accordance therewith, and the respective rights, duties and obligations under this Indenture of the Issuer, the Bondowner Representative and all holders of outstanding Bonds shall thereafter be determined, exercised and enforced hereunder subject in all respects to such modifications and amendments, and all the terms and conditions of any such supplemental indenture shall be part of the terms and conditions of this Indenture for any and all purposes.

Section 9.03. Opinion of Counsel as to Supplemental Indenture. Subject to the provisions of Section 8.01, the Bondowner Representative shall be entitled to receive, and shall be fully protected in relying upon, an Opinion of Counsel as conclusive evidence that any supplemental indenture executed pursuant to the provisions of this Article IX is authorized and permitted by this Indenture.

Section 9.04. Notation of Modification on Bonds; Preparation of New Bonds. Bonds authenticated and delivered after the execution of any supplemental indenture pursuant to the provisions of this Article IX may bear a notation, in form approved by the Bondowner Representative and the Issuer, as to any matter provided for in such supplemental indenture, and if such supplemental indenture shall so provide, new Bonds, so modified as to conform, in the opinion of the Bondowner Representative and the Issuer, to any modification of this Indenture contained in any such supplemental indenture, may be prepared and authenticated by the Bondowner Representative and delivered without cost to the holders of the Bonds then outstanding, upon surrender for cancellation of such Bonds in equal aggregate principal amounts.

ARTICLE X

DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE

Section 10.01. Discharge of Indenture. If the entire indebtedness on all Bonds outstanding shall be paid and discharged in any one or more of the following ways:

(a) by the payment of the principal of (including redemption premium, if any) and interest on all Bonds outstanding; or

(b) by the delivery to the Bondowner Representative, for cancellation by it, of all Bonds outstanding;

and if all other sums payable hereunder by the Issuer shall be paid and discharged, then and in that case this Indenture shall cease, terminate and become null and void, and the Bondowner Representative shall forthwith execute proper instruments acknowledging satisfaction of and discharging this Indenture. The fees, expenses and charges of the Bondowner Representative (including reasonable counsel fees) must be paid in order to effect such discharge. The satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture shall be without prejudice to the rights of the Bondowner Representative to charge and be reimbursed by the Borrower for any expenditures which it may thereafter incur in connection herewith.

The Issuer or the Borrower may at any time surrender to the Bondowner Representative for cancellation by it any Bonds previously authenticated and delivered which the Issuer or the Borrower lawfully may have acquired in any manner whatsoever, and such Bonds upon such surrender and cancellation shall be deemed to be paid and retired.

Section 10.02. Payment of Bonds after Discharge of Indenture. Notwithstanding any provisions of this Indenture, any moneys deposited with the Bondowner Representative or any paying agent in trust for the payment of the principal of, or interest or Premium on, any Bonds remaining unclaimed for two (2) years after the principal of all the outstanding Bonds has become due and payable (whether at maturity or upon call for redemption or by declaration as provided in this Indenture), shall then be paid to the Issuer, and the holders of such Bonds shall thereafter be entitled to look only to the Issuer for payment thereof, and only to the extent of the amount so paid to the Issuer, and all liability of the Bondowner Representative or any paying agent with respect to such moneys shall thereupon cease. In the event of the payment of any such moneys to the Issuer as aforesaid, the holders of the Bonds in respect of which such moneys were deposited shall thereafter be deemed to be unsecured creditors of the Issuer for amounts equivalent to the respective amounts deposited for the payment of such Bonds and so paid to the Issuer (without interest thereon).

ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.01. Successors of Issuer. All the covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements in this Indenture contained, by or on behalf of the Issuer, shall bind and inure to the benefit of its successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not. If any of the powers or duties of the Issuer shall hereafter be transferred by any law of the State of California, and if such transfer shall relate to any matter or thing permitted or required to be done under this

Indenture by the Issuer, then the body or official who shall succeed to such powers or duties shall act and be obligated in the place and stead of the Issuer as in this Indenture provided.

Section 11.02. Limitation of Rights to Parties and Bondholders. Nothing in this Indenture or in the Bonds expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to give to any person other than the Issuer, the Bondowner Representative, the Borrower and the holders of the Bonds issued hereunder any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of this Indenture or any covenant, condition or provision therein or herein contained; and all such covenants, conditions and provisions are and shall be held to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Issuer, the Bondowner Representative, the Borrower and the holders of the Bonds issued hereunder.

Section 11.03. Waiver of Notice. Whenever in this Indenture the giving of notice by mail or otherwise is required, the giving of such notice may be waived in writing by the person entitled to receive such notice and in any such case the giving or receipt of such notice shall not be a condition precedent to the validity of any action taken in reliance upon such waiver.

Section 11.04. Destruction of Bonds. Whenever in this Indenture provision is made for the cancellation by the Bondowner Representative and the delivery to the Issuer of any Bonds, the Bondowner Representative may, in lieu of such cancellation and delivery, destroy such Bonds and deliver a certificate of such destruction to the Issuer.

Section 11.05. Separability of Invalid Provisions. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Indenture or in the Bonds shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Indenture, but this Indenture shall be construed as if such invalid or illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.

Section 11.06. Notices. It shall be sufficient service of any notice, request, demand or other paper on the Issuer, the Bondowner Representative, the Investor Limited Partner or the Borrower if the same shall, except as otherwise provided herein, be duly mailed by first class mail, postage prepaid, by overnight delivery service or given by telephone or telecopier and confirmed by such mail, and to the other parties as follows:

| The Issuer or the Administrator: | County of Contra Costa Department of Conservation and Development 2530 Arnold Drive, Suite 190 Martinez, CA 94553-1229 Attention: Affordable Housing Program Manager |
|--|--|
| The Bondowner Representative prior to the Conversion Date: | Wells Fargo Bank, National Association Community Lending and Investment MAC #A0194-090 45 Fremont Street, 9 th Floor San Francisco, CA 94105 |
| The Bondowner Representative on and after the Conversion Date: | California Community Reinvestment Corporation 225 West Broadway, Suite 120 Glendale, CA 91204 Attention: President |

| The Borrower: | John Street Housing Associates, L.P. 345 Spear Street, Suite 700 San Francisco, CA 94105 Attention: President |
|-------------------------------|--|
| with a copy to: | the Investor Limited Partner |
| The Investor Limited Partner: | Wachovia Affordable Housing Community Development Corporation MAC: D1053-170 301 South College Street Charlotte, NC 28288 Attention: Director of Tax Credit Asset Management |
| with a copy to: | Sidley Austin LLP One South Dearborn Street Chicago, IL 60603 Attention: Frederick R. Meyer, Esq. |

The Issuer, the Bondowner Representative, the Borrower and the Investor Limited Partner may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communications shall be sent.

Section 11.07. Authorized Representatives. Whenever under the provisions of this Indenture the approval of the Issuer or the Borrower is required for any action, and whenever the Issuer or the Borrower is required to deliver any notice or other writing, such approval or such notice or other writing shall be given, respectively, on behalf of the Issuer by an Authorized Issuer Representative or on behalf of the Borrower by an Authorized Borrower Representative, and the Issuer, the Bondowner Representative and the Borrower shall be authorized to act on any such approval or notice or other writing and neither party hereto nor the Borrower shall have any complaint against the others as a result of any such action taken.

Section 11.08. Evidence of Rights of Bondholders. (a) Any request, consent or other instrument required by this Indenture to be signed and executed by Bondholders may be in any number of concurrent writings of substantially similar tenor and may be signed or executed by such Bondholders in person or by agent or agents duly appointed in writing. Proof of the execution of any such request, consent or other instrument or of a writing appointing any such agent, or of the ownership of any Bonds, shall be sufficient for any purpose of this Indenture and shall be conclusive in favor of the Bondowner Representative and of the Issuer if made in the manner provided in this Section.

(b) The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such request, consent or other instrument or writing may be proved by the affidavit of a witness of such execution or by the certificate of any notary public or other officer of any jurisdiction, authorized by the laws thereof to take acknowledgments of deeds, certifying that the person signing such request, consent or other instrument or writing acknowledged to him the execution thereof.

(c) The ownership of Bonds shall be proved by the Bond register maintained pursuant to Section 2.06 hereof. The fact and the date of execution of any request, consent or other instrument and the amount and distinguishing numbers of Bonds held by the person so executing such request, consent or other instrument may also be proved in any other manner which the Bondowner Representative may deem sufficient. The Bondowner Representative may nevertheless, in its discretion, require further proof in cases where it may deem further proof desirable.

(d) Any request, consent or vote of the holder of any Bond shall bind every future holder of the same Bond and the holder of any Bond issued in exchange therefor or in lieu thereof, in respect of anything done or suffered to be done by the Bondowner Representative or the Issuer in pursuance of such request, consent or vote.

(e) In determining whether the holders of the requisite aggregate principal amount of Bonds have concurred in any demand, request, direction, consent or waiver under this Indenture, Bonds which are owned by the Issuer or by any other direct or indirect obligor on the Bonds, or by any person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, the Issuer or any other direct or indirect obligor on the Bonds, shall be disregarded and deemed not to be outstanding for the purpose of any such determination, provided that, for the purpose of determining whether the Bondowner Representative shall be protected in relying on any such demand, request, direction, consent or waiver, only Bonds which the Bondowner Representative knows to be so owned shall be disregarded. Bonds so owned which have been pledged in good faith may be regarded as outstanding for the purposes of this subsection (e) if the pledgee shall establish to the satisfaction of the Bondowner Representative and the Issuer the pledgee's right to vote such Bonds and that the pledgee is not a person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, the Issuer or any other direct or indirect obligor on the Bonds. In case of a dispute as to such right, any decision by the Bondowner Representative taken upon the advice of counsel shall be full protection to the Bondowner Representative. Solely for purposes of the limitation expressed in this paragraph (e), the Borrower shall be deemed to be an indirect obligor on the Bonds.

(f) In lieu of obtaining any demand, request, direction, consent or waiver in writing, the Bondowner Representative may call and hold a meeting of the Bondholders upon such notice and in accordance with such rules and regulations as the Bondowner Representative considers fair and reasonable for the purpose of obtaining any such action.

Section 11.09. Waiver of Personal Liability. No member of the Board of Supervisors, officer, agent or employee of the Issuer, and no officer, official, agent or employee of the State of California or any department, board or agency of any of the foregoing, shall be individually or personally liable for the payment of the principal of or premium or interest on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance thereof; but nothing herein contained shall relieve any such person from the performance of any official duty provided by law or by this Indenture.

Section 11.10. Holidays. If the date for making any payment or the last date for performance of any act or the exercising of any right, as provided in this Indenture, is not a Business Day, such payment may be made or act performed or right exercised on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if done on the date provided therefor in this Indenture and, in the case of any payment, no interest shall accrue for the period from and after such date.

Section 11.11. Execution in Several Counterparts. This Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all purposes be deemed to be an original; and all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

Section 11.12. Governing Law. This Indenture and the Bonds shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California applicable to contracts made and performed in such State.

Section 11.13. Successors. Whenever in this Indenture either the Issuer or the Bondowner Representative is named or referred to, such reference shall be deemed to include the successors or assigns thereof, and all the covenants and agreements in this Indenture contained by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Bondowner Representative shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors and assigns thereof whether so expressed or not.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA, CALIFORNIA has caused this Indenture to be signed in its name and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, in token of its acceptance of the duties of the Bondowner Representative hereunder, has caused this Indenture to be signed in its name, all as of the day and year first above written.

COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA, CALIFORNIA

Ву_____

Its _____

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Bondowner Representative

By _____

Vice President

[Signature Page to Indenture of Trust – Pinole Grove Senior Housing]

03042.24:J11391

EXHIBIT A

FORM OF BOND

THIS BOND MAY BE OWNED ONLY BY AN "APPROVED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER" (AS SUCH TERM IS DEFINED IN THE INDENTURE REFERENCED BELOW) OR OTHER ENTITY PERMITTED UNDER THE INDENTURE, AND THE HOLDER HEREOF, BY THE ACCEPTANCE OF THIS BOND (A) REPRESENTS THAT IT IS AN APPROVED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER OR OTHER PERMITTED TRANSFEREE, AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT CAN ONLY TRANSFER THIS BOND TO ANOTHER APPROVED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER OR OTHER PERMITTED TRANSFEREE.

COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA MULTIFAMILY HOUSING REVENUE BOND (PINOLE GROVE SENIOR HOUSING), SERIES 2011A

Dated Date Dated Date September __, 2011 Maturity Date

_____1, ____

REGISTERED OWNER: WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

PRINCIPAL SUM: Up to _____ MILLION DOLLARS

The County of Contra Costa, California, a political subdivision and body corporate and politic of the State of California (herein called the "Issuer"), for value received, hereby promises to pay (but only out of Revenues as hereinafter provided) to the Registered Owner identified above or registered assigns, on the Maturity Date identified above (subject to prior redemption as provided herein) the sum of up to _____ Million Dollars (\$_____.00) in lawful money of the United States, with interest thereon from the date of disbursement until paid at the interest rates described below. The actual unpaid principal hereof shall be equal to the funds disbursed by the Bondowner under the Indenture to fund the Loan, less any portion of the principal hereof redeemed pursuant to the Indenture. Capitalized terms used in this Bond and not defined herein shall have the meanings given such terms in the Indenture of Trust referenced below, or in the Note (as such term is defined in the Indenture) made by John Street Housing Associates, L.P., a California limited partnership (the "Borrower"), to the order of the Issuer.

The Issuer shall make monthly payments on this Bond of accrued interest only on funds actually disbursed by the Bondowner under the Indenture to fund the Loan to the Borrower under the Loan Agreement. This Bond shall bear interest, payable on the first Business Day (as defined in the Indenture) of each month, commencing October 1, 2011 (each, an "Interest Payment Date") at the same rate of interest as in effect from time to time on the Note, and computed in the same manner as interest is computed from time to time on the Note, as provided in Section 2.02 of the Indenture. In addition, principal of this Bond shall be payable in installments on the same dates and in the same amounts as is the principal payable on the Loan, as evidenced by the Note, as provided in Section 2.02 of the Indenture.

This Bond shall bear interest from the date to which interest has been paid on this Bond next preceding the date of authentication hereof, unless this Bond is authenticated as of an Interest Payment Date for which interest has been paid, in which event it shall bear interest

from such Interest Payment Date, or unless it is authenticated on or before the first Interest Payment Date, in which event it shall bear interest from the Closing Date.

In the event the Issuer fails to make the timely payment of any monthly payment, the Issuer shall pay interest on the then Outstanding Balance at a default rate (the "Default Rate") equal to the interest rate then in effect under this Bond plus five percent (5%) (solely from amounts received from the Borrower under the Loan Agreement (as defined in the Indenture), subject to any maximum rate specified in the Note or the Loan Agreement).

This Bond is one of a duly authorized issue of bonds of the Issuer designated as "County of Contra Costa Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Pinole Grove Senior Housing), Series 2011A" (the "Bonds"), in the initial aggregate principal amount of up to \$_ authorized to be issued pursuant to Chapter 7 of Part 5 of Division 31 of the Health and Safety Code of the State of California, and issued under and secured by an Indenture of Trust, dated as of September 1, 2011 (the "Indenture"), between the Issuer and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as the initial Bondowner Representative. Reference is hereby made to the Indenture and all indentures supplemental thereto for a description of the rights thereunder of the owners of the Bonds, of the nature and extent of the security, of the rights, duties and immunities of the Bondowner Representative and of the rights and obligations of the Issuer thereunder, to all of the provisions of which Indenture the holder of this Bond, by acceptance hereof, assents and agrees. The proceeds of the Bonds will be used to make a loan to the Borrower pursuant to a Loan Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2011 (the "Loan Agreement") among the Bondowner Representative, the Issuer and the Borrower, to finance the acquisition and rehabilitation of a residential rental project known as Pinole Grove Senior Housing, located at 800 John Street in the City of Pinole, California.

THE BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM AND SECURED BY THE PLEDGE OF CERTAIN REVENUES UNDER THE INDENTURE. NEITHER THE ISSUER, THE MEMBERS OF ITS BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, NOR ANY OF ITS POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS SHALL BE DIRECTLY, INDIRECTLY, CONTINGENTLY OR MORALLY OBLIGATED TO USE ANY OTHER MONEYS OR ASSETS TO PAY ALL OR ANY PORTION OF THE DEBT SERVICE DUE ON THE BONDS, TO LEVY OR TO PLEDGE ANY FORM OF TAXATION WHATEVER THEREFOR OR TO MAKE ANY APPROPRIATION FOR THEIR PAYMENT. THE BONDS ARE NOT A PLEDGE OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE ISSUER, THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA OR ANY OF ITS POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS NOR DO THEY CONSTITUTE INDEBTEDNESS WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY DEBT LIMITATION.

The Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer and, as and to the extent set forth in the Indenture, are payable solely from, and secured by a pledge of and lien on, the Revenues (as that term is defined in the Indenture), consisting primarily of amounts paid by the Borrower pursuant to the Loan Agreement.

The Bonds shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity, at a price and upon such terms as are provided in the Indenture. No notice of redemption of Bonds need be given to the registered owners of the Bonds, and the owner of this Bond, by acceptance hereof, expressly waives any requirement for any notice of redemption.

If an Event of Default, as defined in the Indenture, shall occur, the principal of all Bonds may be declared due and payable upon the conditions, in the manner and with the effect provided in the Indenture. This Bond is transferable by the registered owner hereof, in person, or by its attorney duly authorized in writing, at the Principal Office of the Bondowner Representative, but only in the manner, subject to the limitations (including those contained in Section 2.05(b) and (c) of the Indenture) and upon payment of the charges provided in the Indenture, and upon surrender and cancellation of this Bond. Upon such transfer a new fully registered Bond will be issued to the transferee in exchange herefor. The Issuer and the Bondowner Representative may treat the registered owner hereof as the absolute owner hereof for all purposes, and the Issuer and the Bondowner Representative shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary. By its acceptance of this Bond, the registered owner hereof agrees not to sell any participating interests in this Bond, except as permitted by the Indenture.

The Indenture contains provisions permitting the Issuer and the Bondowner Representative to execute supplemental indentures adding provisions to, or changing or eliminating any of the provisions of, the Indenture, subject to the limitations set forth in the Indenture. In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Bond and the provisions of the Indenture, the provisions of the Indenture shall be controlling.

The Issuer hereby certifies that all of the conditions, things and acts required to exist, to have happened and to have been performed precedent to and in connection with the issuance of this Bond do exist, have happened and have been performed in due time, form and manner as required by the Constitution and statutes of the State of California (including the Housing Act) and that the amount of this Bond, together with all other indebtedness of the Issuer, does not exceed any limit prescribed by the Constitution or statutes of the State of California.

This Bond shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Indenture, or become valid or obligatory for any purpose, until the certificate of authentication hereon endorsed shall have been manually signed by the Bondowner Representative.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA has caused this Bond to be executed in its name by the manual or facsimile signature of the Chair of its Board of Supervisors and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Clerk of its Board of Supervisors all as of the Dated Date above.

COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA

By_____ Chair of the Board of Supervisors

Attest:

By: ______Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This is one of the Bonds described in the within-mentioned Indenture and has been authenticated and registered on this date:

Dated: _____

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Bondowner Representative

By_____Authorized Officer

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

For value received, the undersigned do(es) hereby sell, assign and transfer unto

(Name, Address and Tax Identification or Social Security Number of Assignee) the within Bond and do(es) hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint

______, attorney, to transfer the same on the registration books of the Bondowner Representative, with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated: _____

Signature Guaranteed:

NOTICE: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by a eligible guarantor.

NOTICE: The signature on this assignment must correspond with the name(s) as written on the face of the within Bond in every particular without alteration or enlargement or any change whatsoever.

EXHIBIT B

FORM OF INVESTOR'S LETTER

County of Contra Costa Martinez, California

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association San Francisco, California

Re: County of Contra Costa Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Pinole Grove Senior Housing), Series 2011A

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned (the "Purchaser"), being the purchaser of \$_____ principal amount of the above-referenced bonds (the "Bonds") issued pursuant to the Indenture of Trust, dated as of September 1, 2011 (the "Indenture"), between the County of Contra Costa (the "Issuer") and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as the initial Bondowner Representative (the "Bondowner Representative"), does hereby certify, represent and warrant for the benefit of the Issuer and the Bondowner Representative that:

(a) The Purchaser is an "Approved Institutional Buyer."

(b) The Purchaser has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters, including the purchase and ownership of tax-exempt obligations, and is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of its investment in the Bonds. The Purchaser is able to bear the economic risk of, and an entire loss of, an investment in the Bonds.

(c) The Purchaser is acquiring the Bonds solely for its own account for investment purposes, and does not presently intend to make a public distribution of, or to resell or transfer, all or any part of the Bonds, except as may be permitted by the Indenture.

(d) The Purchaser understands that the Bonds have not been registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or under any state securities laws. The Purchaser agrees that it will comply with any applicable state and federal securities laws then in effect with respect to any disposition of the Bonds by it, and further acknowledges that any current exemption from registration of the Bonds does not affect or diminish such requirements.

(e) The Purchaser is familiar with the conditions, financial and otherwise, of the Borrower and understands that the Borrower has no significant assets other than the Development for payment of the Bonds. Further, the Purchaser understands that the Bonds involve a high degree of risk. Specifically, and without in any manner limiting the foregoing, the Purchaser understands and acknowledges that, among other risks, the Bonds are payable solely from the Revenues and that, following the Conversion Date (as defined in the Loan Agreement referenced in the Indenture) the obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement are not recourse obligations against the general assets of the Borrower, but are secured only by the assets of the Borrower referred to in the Loan Agreement. The Purchaser has been provided an opportunity to ask questions of, and the Purchaser has received answers from, representatives of the Borrower and the Bondowner Representative regarding the terms and conditions of the Bonds. The Purchaser has obtained all information requested by it in connection with the issuance of the Bonds as it regards necessary to evaluate all merits and risks of its investment in the Bonds. The Purchaser has reviewed the documents executed in conjunction with the issuance of the Bonds, including, without limitation, the Indenture, the Loan Documents and the Regulatory Agreement.

(f) The Purchaser is not now and has never been controlled by, or under common control with, the Borrower. The Borrower has never been and is not now controlled by the Purchaser. The Purchaser has entered into no arrangements with the Borrower or with any affiliate in connection with the Bonds, other than as disclosed in writing to the Issuer.

(g) The Purchaser has authority to purchase the Bonds and to execute this letter and any other instruments and documents required to be executed by the Purchaser in connection with the purchase of the Bonds. The individual who is signing this letter on behalf of the Purchaser is a duly appointed, qualified, and acting officer of the Purchaser and is authorized to cause the Purchaser to make the certificates, representations and warranties contained herein by execution of this letter on behalf of the Purchaser.

(h) In entering into this transaction, the Purchaser has not relied upon any representations or opinions of the Issuer or the Bondowner Representative relating to the legal consequences or other aspects of its investment in the Bonds, nor has it looked to, nor expected, the Issuer to undertake or require any credit investigation or due diligence reviews relating to the Borrower, its financial condition or business operations, the Development, including the financing or management thereof, or any other matter pertaining to the merits or risks of the transactions contemplated by the Loan Agreement and the Indenture, or the adequacy of the funds pledged to the Bondowner Representative to secure repayment of the Bonds.

(i) The Purchaser understands that the Bonds are not secured by any pledge of any moneys received or to be received from taxation by the Issuer (which has no taxing power), the State of California or any political subdivision or taxing district thereof; that the Bonds will never represent or constitute a general obligation or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Issuer, the State of California or any political subdivision thereof; that no right will exist to have taxes levied by the State of California or any political subdivision thereof for the payment of principal and interest on the Bonds; and that the liability of the Issuer with respect to the Bonds is subject to further limitations as set forth in the Bonds and the Indenture.

(j) The Purchaser has been informed that the Bonds (i) have not been and will not be registered or otherwise qualified for sale under the "Blue Sky" laws and regulations of any jurisdiction, (ii) will not be listed on any stock or other securities exchange, and (iii) will carry no rating from any rating service.

(k) The Purchaser acknowledges that it has the right to sell and transfer the Bonds, including interests in the Bonds, subject to compliance with the transfer restrictions set forth in Section 2.05 of the Indenture, including in certain circumstances the requirement for the delivery to the Issuer and the Bondowner Representative of an

investor's letter in the same form as this Investor's Letter, including this paragraph. Failure to comply with the provisions of Section 2.05 of the Indenture shall cause the purported transfer to be null and void. The Purchaser agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Issuer with respect to any claim asserted against the Issuer that arises with respect to any sale, transfer or other disposition of the Bonds by the Purchaser or any transferee thereof in violation of the provisions of the Indenture.

(l) None of the Bondowner Representative, Bond Counsel, the Issuer, its Board of Supervisors, or any of its employees, counsel or agents will have any responsibility to the Purchaser for the accuracy or completeness of information obtained by the Purchaser from any source regarding the Borrower or its financial condition or the Development, or regarding the Bonds, the provision for payment thereof, or the sufficiency of any security therefor. No written information has been provided by the Issuer to the Purchaser with respect to the Bonds. The Purchaser acknowledges that, as between the Purchaser and all of such parties, the Purchaser has assumed responsibility for obtaining such information and making such review as the Purchaser deemed necessary or desirable in connection with its decision to purchase the Bonds.

(m) The Purchaser acknowledges that the Bonds are exempt from the requirements of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission and that the Issuer has not undertaken to provide any continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds.

(n) The Purchaser acknowledges that interest on a Bond is not excludable from gross income of the owner thereof for federal income tax purposes for any period during which such Bond is owned by a person who is a substantial user of the facilities financed by the Bonds or any person considered to be related to such substantial user (within the meaning of Section 147(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended).

The Purchaser acknowledges that the sale of the Bonds to the Purchaser is made in reliance upon the certifications, representations and warranties herein by the addressees hereto. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined have the meanings given such terms in the Indenture.

[PURCHASER]

| By: | |
|--------|---|
| Name: | |
| Title: | _ |